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At A Glance 2002/03
Organisational Information
Expenditure:

$13.8million

Number of Employees at 30 June:

136

Summary of Operations
Enquiries Answered:

22,947

Attendees at Seminars:

1,645

Inspections Conducted:

27,891

Service Providers Monitored:

418

Disputes Resolved:

3,544

Agreements Registered:

4,726

The Workers’ Compensation Environment
Overall Recommended Premium Rate for 2003/04:

2.34%

The Average Recommended Premium Rate from 2002/03 to 2003/04 reduced by:

5.1%

Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund Levy for 2003/04 reduced from 3.0% to:

1.0%

Claim Payments from June 2002 to June 2003 increased by:

0.9%

Claim Payments for Common Law from June 2002 to June 2003 increased by:

14.6%

Frequency of Lost Time Claims from July 1998 to June 2002 reduced by:

31.8%

The Number of Lost Time Claims from July 1998 to June 2002 reduced by:

24.1%
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Chairman’s Review
The Hon John Kobelke MLA
Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection
I am pleased to present the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission (Commission) Annual Report and audited Performance
Indicators and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2003.
The 22nd year of operation of the Commission was characterised by the continuation of reductions in premium rates and claim numbers and
of the stabilisation claim payments. New and improved technological advances resulted in the implementation of a new database that
collects extensive information on the scheme. While at an operational level, the number of disputes and enquiries received by the agency
decreased, reflective of a reducing scheme trend in claim numbers.
For the fifth consecutive year, employers in Western Australia experienced a reduction in recommended premium rates. In 2003/04 the
overall reduction in premium rates is 5.1%. Since the introduction of the October 1999 legislative amendments overall premium levels have
decreased by over 36 per cent. The scheme average recommended premium rate has decreased from 3.436% to 2.342%. Western
Australian business also benefited from a reduction in the supplementation fund levy for the same period from 3% to 1%.
Latest statistics indicate a continued reduction in workers’ compensation claim numbers, which over the past four years dropped by 24%.
This reduction also coincided with a stabilisation in the cost of workers’ compensation claims with less than a 1% increase in payments from
2001/02 to 2002/03. In the current year, weekly payments make up 30.2% of total payments. Combined with payments for common law
(14.6%), redemptions (15.3%) and medical practitioners and specialists (10.9%) these categories accounted for over 70% of the total
scheme payments made during the year. These trends result in financial stability for employers in the form of stable insurance premiums.
Long duration claims continue to be an area of concern both to the Commission and stakeholders with the latest data indicating that these
claims accounted for 74.2% of claim payments but only 20.8% of all lost time claims. The Commission commenced an extensive research
project in the second half of the financial year to investigate the nature of long duration claims. The research will provide a detailed picture
of these claims including the management practices and scheme factors that contribute to duration. This information will then provide a
basis for further work including the assessment of interventions and development of strategies that can be implemented to address the risk
factors in the system.
In Western Australia, the past 12 months has been a time of extensive discussion on various elements of workers’ compensation system.
During the year, the Commission responded to the Hon Minister on the proposed changes emanating from the recommendations in the
Guthrie Report 2001 and the Cooke Report 2002. The Commission held the view that workers’ compensation reform should be considered
within a contextual framework that includes the National consistency agenda and developments in relation to public liability. The
Commission now awaits the outcome of the spring session of Parliament when the Government’s reform package will be considered.
Workers’ compensation was also topical in the National arena, with the Productivity Commission Inquiry calling for submissions in the last
half of 2002/03. The Commission provided a submission to the Inquiry which is examining frameworks for establishing Nationally consistent
arrangements for workers’ compensation and occupational safety and health. Recommendations arising from the Cole Royal Commission
into the Building and Construction Industry and the HIH Royal Commission were also examined by the Commission to ensure appropriate
mechanisms are in place to meet its fiduciary responsibility.
In May 2003, the Commission reviewed its strategic plan and recognised the plan had delivered positive outcomes to stakeholders through
reductions in premium rates, delivery of an education strategy and the development of a system to gather extensive data on the scheme.
However, it was acknowledged that broader aspects of scheme design were not within the Commission’s control and it was therefore
important to identify and focus on areas in which the Commission could exert influence. Three main areas of future focus for the
Commission will be communication, return to work rates and injury management, and partnerships with stakeholders. The current strategic
plan has proven successful and served the Commission well in achieving balanced outcomes that meet the needs of all scheme
participants. The Commission’s review will ensure the plan remains relevant until the formulation of a new plan in 2004.
Again this year, the financial statements reveal a financially sound statutory authority that continues to utilise its resources to remain at the
forefront of workers’ compensation scheme administration.
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The day to day operations of the Commission were carried under the direction of the Executive Director, Mr Harry Neesham. WorkCover's
priority remains the provision of information to scheme participants and stakeholders, the resolution of disputes and the monitoring of
employers and service providers. A decreased level of activity occurred in 2002/03, with a notable reduction in the number of enquiries
received, people attending seminars and disputes between parties resolved by the Conciliation and Review Directorate.
The Commission continues to secure positive outcomes for scheme participants by actively enforcing and promoting the benefits of
compliance with the Act. In 2002/03, there was a greater focus on regulation with a 25% increase, on the previous year, in the number of
inspections conducted to ensure compliance by employers with the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. Through ensuring
compliance with the Act, the financial burden on all Western Australian businesses is reduced as employers have appropriate coverage for
their worker’s claims.
In a year when International and National events focussed on the corporate governance of insurers and private companies, the Commission
monitored closely the developments in this area. In recognising the important role as regulator of approved insurers and self insurers, the
Commission endorsed major changes to the performance monitoring guidelines for these groups. The changes, which will be operational in
2003/04, are designed to ensure appropriate criteria and benchmarks are set to assess and monitor the financial performance, service
delivery outcomes and statutory compliance of approved insurers and self insurers. Poor performance by approved insurers and self
insurers is of concern to the Commission and every effort is being made to ensure there are appropriate sanctions and penalties for substandard performance.
This year the Commission harnessed new technology to implement an improved policy and claims information system. The system collects
comprehensive data on all aspects of the workers’ compensation system via approved service providers. The system has greatly enhanced
not only the type of information collected, but the accuracy through real time correction. The system provides the Commission with a
platform for future enhancements which will better serve the workers’ compensation scheme and play an important role in equipping the
Commission for the future.
During 2002/03, Mr Doug Pascoe resigned as Deputy Member of the Commission and Premium Rates Committee and his contribution is
recognised, while Mr Lew Watts is welcomed as his replacement. Dr Fred Heyworth, Chairman of the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel,
also tendered his resignation in 2002. Dr Heyworth has played a significant role as Chairman over his 10 years of service to the Panel.
During this time Dr Heyworth’s professional skill and knowledge have provided a major contribution to the administration of workers’
compensation in general and the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel in particular. The Commission welcomes Dr Evelyn Lee as his
successor.
I wish to acknowledge the valuable contribution made by members of the Commission and Advisory Committees. Member’s knowledge and
dedication to the work of the Commission, especially as Chairs of Advisory Committees is critical to their effectiveness.
On behalf of the Commission, I would like to thank the executive, staff and contractors of WorkCover for their professionalism, dedication
and commitment during the past year. The Commission looks forward to the coming year with a sense of optimism and confidence that we
are in a stable position to deal with the future challenges that lie ahead of us.

B T BRADLEY
Chairman
Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003
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Significant Issues and Trends
This section includes information on:
• Scheme Performance
• Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund
• Government Reforms

Scheme Performance
Premium Rates
Recommended premium rates for the 2003/04 financial year were reduced overall by 5.1% based on the expected claims experience. The
average recommended premium rate reduced (exclusive of the brokerage allowance) from 2.469% for 2002/03 to 2.342% for 2003/04. The
average rate was 2.625% for 2001/02 and 2.972% for 2000/01. This is the fifth consecutive year recommended premium rates have
reduced since the October 1999 legislative amendments. Over this period recommended premium rates have reduced in total by 36.6%.

Scheme Benefits
The 2002/03 year saw a 0.9% increase in claims payments on the previous year. The 2002/03 claims payment data indicates weekly
payments equate to 30.2% of all payments. Legislative change in October 1999 provided greater provisions for redemptions, resulting in
increased costs attributed to this payment category. During 2001/02 redemptions accounted for 14.6% of claims payments, while in 2002/03
they represent 15.3% of all payments. Common law experienced a 14.6% increase on last year and accounts for 14.6% of claims
payments, compared with 32% four years ago. The remaining claims experience is credited to medical practitioners and specialists (10.9%),
legal expenses (7.3%), all other treatment (6.2%), schedule 2 (4.1%), vocational rehabilitation (3.8%), miscellaneous (3.7%), hospital (3.7%)
and fatalities (0.3%).

Claims
The current year saw the continued reduction in the number of claims in the Western Australian workers' compensation system. In 2001/02
(the latest year for which data is available), there were 18,842 claims lodged for compensation where the injury resulted in a day or more
absence from work and reflects an overall decrease in numbers since 1998/99. Long duration claims (claims of 60 days or more off work)
in 2001/02, accounted for 20.8% of all lost time claims and 74.2% of claim costs. The frequency rate, representing the number of lost time
claims per million hours worked, has decreased 31.8% over the four years from 1998/99 to 2001/02.

Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund
In August 2001, HIH Insurance was officially placed in liquidation. At the commencement of HIH Insurance’s provisional liquidation, in
March 2001 there were 3,381 accepted claims, while 30 June 2003 there only remains 357 open claims. As at 30 June 2003, outstanding
claims in Western Australia were estimated at $31.7 million, with $9.6 million paid in relation to claims for HIH Insurance during the year.
The Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund is in place to protect workers from the collapse of an insurer. The fund ensures no worker
is materially disadvantaged because of the collapse of an insurer, including HIH Insurance. Based on an actuarial assessment of
outstanding claims for HIH Insurance, the Supplementation Fund surcharge rate for the 2003/04 year was reduced to 1% from 3% for the
previous year. This rate is reviewed annually in order to minimise the financial impact on employers. The surcharge is required in order to
raise sufficient funds to cover the cost of claims paid by employers who had current employers’ indemnity policies with HIH Insurance up to
and including the 14 March 2001.

Government Reforms
In October 2002, the Government released a position paper outlining reforms to the worker’s compensation system. The proposed changes
are the result of over twelve months of consultation with stakeholders, commencing in 2001 with the release of Mr Robert Guthrie’s Report
on the Implementation of the Labor Party Direction Statement in Relation to Workers’ Compensation and the recommendations of Mr Tony
Cooke’s Report which reviewed the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission and other bodies established under the
Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 and the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980. Proposed reforms are
in key areas of statutory entitlements, common law, dispute resolution and injury management. These changes will ensure a more equitable
balance within the workers’ compensation system.
WorkCover has provided policy advice to the Government and progressed drafting instructions for the Workers’ Compensation Reform Bill
2003. Subject to Parliamentary approval it is anticipated that the proposed reforms will be operational in 2004.
Annual Report 2002/03
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The Workers’ Compensation Environment
In this section an overview of the Western Australia workers’ compensation
environment is given including:
• Average Recommended Premium Rate
• Premium Income
• Claims Payments
• Claim Statistics
In the following section, statistics should be interpreted in
conjunction with the explanatory notes which accompany the
data.

Average Recommended Premium
Rate
The average recommended premium rate provides an indication
of the average rate for the scheme based on the gazetted
recommended premium rates. Recommended premium rates
are set for the privately underwritten market, inclusive of State
and Local Government.
Figure 1 demonstrates the trend in the average recommended
premium rate over the past ten years.
Recommended Premium Rates by underwriting year

The legislation also provides the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation Commission with the ability to approve exemption
from insuring for employers who wish to self insure. As at the 30
June 2003, there were 11 insurers and 29 self insurers in the
State.
The statutory obligations of the State Government as an
employer are managed by RiskCover through the Insurance
Commission of Western Australia.
In assessing the workers’ compensation scheme performance it
is important to note that workers’ compensation claims are long
tail in nature which means it may take up to five to seven years
for the more serious claims to reach finalisation.
Consequently, premium collected by insurers in any given
underwriting year is required for the payment of all claims
incurred during that year for the life of these claims.

Premium Income 2002/03

3.50%
3.25%
3.00%
2.75%
2.50%
2.25%
2.00%
1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

Gazette before 1999 Act change
Gazette after Act change & brokerage rem oved

2000

2001

2002

2002

2003

2004

Gazette after 1999 Act change

Figure 1: Average Recommended Premium Rates by
Underwriting Year
Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers; Premium Rates Committee of Western
Australia – Actuarial Assessment of the Recommended Premium Rates for
2003/04– May 2003, Page 1.

Premium Income
The Western Australian workers’ compensation scheme is
underwritten based on a privately insured market. Insurers are
approved by the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Commission to underwrite workers’ compensation.
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In the annual determination of the recommended premium rates,
the Premium Rates Committee includes an allowance for the:
Target loss ratio which is the expected cost of all claims for
each respective underwriting year;
Claims administration expenses;
Statutory charges; and
Profit.
The premium dollar collected by insurers (as reported in this
section) incorporates all these expenses. It does not represent
the premium dollar collected solely for the purpose of paying for
the cost of claims.
The premium income of the scheme is derived from contribution
returns provided by insurers and self insurers under section 109
of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.
Insurers declare actual premiums received whilst self insurers
declare a notional premium based on the gross wages paid and
the industry premium rate.
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The premium income of the scheme, for the year ending 30 June
2003, as reported in the contribution returns lodged by insurers,
the Insurance Commission of Western Australian and self
insurers is identified in table 1.
Table 1: Premium Income of the Scheme 2002/03
$Million
Insurers(1)

$574.823

Self Insurers (notional)

$76.909

Total

$651.732

(1) The

premium income for the Insurance Commission of WA is included
in the category for insurers.

Premium Income History

Table 2: Premium Income by Year

2002/03
2001/02
2000/01
1999/00
1998/99
1997/98
1996/97
1995/96
1994/95
1993/94
1992/93
1991/92
1990/91
1989/90
1988/89
1987/88
1986/87
1985/86
1984/85
1983/84
1982/83
1981/82
1980/81

Annual Report 2002/03

Insurers
(Premium
Income)
$M

574.823
593.951
636.475
610.733
463.286
401.007
374.289
346.531
347.325
323.500
276.001
258.734
278.032
297.525
298.506
280.125
247.813
228.437
185.908
160.936
131.650
90.951
75.645

Claim payments information includes expenses for all workers’
compensation claims reported by approved and former insurers
under section 161 of the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation Act 1981, by the Insurance Commission of
Western Australia in relation to insurance arrangements for State
Government workers and industrial diseases, and by self
insurers.
Claim payments are the actual expenses incurred during each
financial year regardless of the claim’s date of accident for the
cost of unfinalised claims.
Claim payments do not include the cost of claims not yet
incurred and of other expenses which are allowed within the
determination of recommended premium rates.

Claims Payments by Category 2002/03

Table 2 shows a history of premium income and notional
premium income for the scheme from 1980/81 to 2002/03.
Financial
Year

Claim Payments

Self Insurers

(Notional Income)
$M

76.909
67.702
62.519
56.937
48.344
37.026
34.435
25.840
18.130
24.494
23.025
26.302
27.042
27.459
24.683
19.054
16.942
16.634
13.638
12.420
8.571
12.572
11.936

Scheme Total
$M

651.732
661.653
698.994
667.670
511.630
438.033
408.725
372.371
365.328
347.994
299.026
285.036
305.074
324.984
323.189
299.179
264.755
245.071
199.546
173.356
140.221
103.523
87.581

In 2002/03, the total cost of claims incurred against all accident
years was $391.742 million, 0.9% higher than the total payments
made in 2001/02.
In 2002/03, weekly payments accounted for 30.2% and common
law and other Acts for 14.6% of the total claim payments. These
two categories of payments represented 44.8% of total scheme
payments in 2002/03 while in 2001/02 represented 43.7%.
The category relating to redemptions continues to increase, now
representing 15.3% of total payments compared with 14.7% in
2001/02 and 8.6% in 2000/01.
Medical practitioner and specialist payments has decreased as a
total accounting for 10.9% of the total payments. Similarly legal
expenses have reduced and now account for 7.3% of total
payments compared with 8.0% in 2001/02.
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Table 3: Claims Payments made in 2002/03
Payment Category
By Weekly Payments

Scheme
Total
$

Table 4: Claim Payment by Year Paid
% of
Scheme
Total

118,126,920

30.2%

Redemptions

59,976,122

15.3%

For Specific Injuries (2nd Schedule)

16,130,173

4.1%

Fatal (including funeral expenses)

1,163,723

0.3%

42,587,887

10.9%

Hospital Expenses

14,428,197

3.7%

All Other Treatment (a)

24,110,299

6.2%

Vocational Rehabilitation (b)

14,869,892

3.8%

Miscellaneous (eg. transport, maintenance)

14,486,270

3.7%

Legal Expenses (c)

28,780,520

7.3%

57,082,127

14.6%

$391,742,131

100%

Medical Practitioners and Specialists

Common Law and Other Acts
Scheme Total

Financial
Year

$M

2002/03
2001/02
2000/01
1999/00
1998/99
1997/98
1996/97
1995/96
1994/95
1993/94
1992/93
1991/92
1990/91
1989/90
1988/89
1987/88
1986/87
1985/86
1984/85
1983/84
1982/83
1981/82
1980/81

Notes:
(a) Comprised of payments made under Clauses 17(1), (3), (4), (5) and (6) of Schedule 1 of
the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 ('Act') other than medical and
hospital expenses.
(b) Comprised of payments made under Clause 17(1a) of Schedule 1 of the Act in respect of
counselling, occupational training, work assessment, aids and appliances.
(c) Comprised of insurers' and self insurers' cost of legal advice and representation, witness
fees and the costs of these services incurred by the worker where the insurer or self
insurer is ordered to meet these costs.
_______________________________
(1)

These are costs reported as at 30 June 2003 and may be subject to change due to
payment variations subsequently reported by approved, former approved insurers and
self insurers.

(2) Claim payments represents the actual payments and do not reflect liabilities incurred but
not yet paid.
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313.900
314.929
323.898
393.857
367.232
389.451
359.924
312.127
309.494
304.451
278.553
242.977
221.733
211.565
204.860
192.770
170.530
154.131
137.901
113.734
108.120
77.669
61.734

Self Insurers
$M

77.842
73.423
76.475
81.653
81.200
17.487
14.425
13.938
15.289
13.653
11.745
10.636
10.459
8.329
7.485
6.368
6.241
4.845
4.600
3.609
3.286
2.814
2.026

Scheme
Total
$M

391.742
388.352
400.373
475.510
448.433
406.938
374.349
326.065
324.783
318.104
290.298
253.613
232.192
219.894
212.345
199.138
176.771
158.976
142.501
117.343
111.406
80.483
63.760

Notes:
1.

The term ‘insurers’ for premium income comprises those approved and formerly
approved under section 161 of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act
1981 and the Insurance Commission of Western Australian (formerly the State
Government Insurance Commission) in relation to insurance arrangements for
Government workers and industrial diseases (ie. mining).

2.

Actual premium income received in the year shown does not necessarily reflect the
premium earned in the year ie. it may include premium outstanding from the previous
year or pre paid for the following year.

3.

Claims payments represent the actual payments for all accident years and do not
reflect liabilities incurred but not yet paid.

4.

The notional premium income of self insurers is calculated by applying recommended
premium rates to declared wages. The premium income statistics of insurers are
actual and account for surcharges and discounting.

5.

Actual premium income and claim payments represent returns as at 30 June each
year and may be subject to change due to income and payment variations
subsequently reported by approved, former approved insurers and self insurers.

6.

From 1998/99 onwards the Insurance Commission of Western Australia's claim
payments data is included under Self Insurers.

Claim Payment History
Claim payments represent the actual compensation payments
for all accident years but do not reflect liabilities incurred but not
yet paid or administrative costs. Actual claim payments amounts
(with no adjustment for inflation) are provided in table 4 for all
years.

Insurers
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The financial health of the Western Australian workers’
compensation is illustrated in table 5 commencing with the
1995/96 financial year. The table provides an outline of the
precise state of the workers’ compensation system.

All data items in this table are adjusted annually to reflect all
transactions relating to each specific financial year, whereas the
premium income and claims payment information (previous)
reflect the actual outcome as of 30 June each year.
The data in the table is the combined experience of insurers,
past insurers, the Insurance Commission of Western Australia
and the Municipal WorkCare Scheme.

Table 5: Financial Performance of the WA Workers’ Compensation System by Accident Year
Estimated Profit and Loss in the WA Workers' Compensation System
Accident Year ending 30 June
1996
$M

1997
$M

1998
$M

1999
$M

2000
$M

2001
$M

2002
$M

Estimated
2003
$M

Gross earned premium (a)

344.195

372.646

393.370

467.309

602.953

633.134

596.510

597.543

Cumulative claim payments (b)
Outstanding estimate (c)
Net claims incurred (d)

353.491
22.095
375.586

397.841
35.159
433.000

377.873
58.654
436.527

320.002
98.045
418.047

263.008
200.923
463.931

185.032
286.362
471.394

73.722
398.140
471.862

93.629
426.534
520.163

Underwriting profit/loss (e)

(31.391)

(60.355)

(43.156)

49.262

139.022

161.740

124.648

77.380

10.326
54.039
59.042

11.179
60.741
68.068

11.801
62.939
68.622

14.019
64.021
61.279

18.089
67.531
57.492

18.994
79.775
59.097

17.895
77.526
59.162

17.926
77.660
65.218

(36.713)
-11%
109%

(64.208)
-17%
116%

(49.275)
-13%
111%

32.501
7%
89%

110.894
18%
77%

122.068
19%
74%

88.389
15%
79%

47.012
8%
87%

115.268
4%

203.656
6%

250.668
6%

678.704
685.393

635.289
648.313

626.295
628.993

Commission (f)
Other expenses (g)
Estimated investment income (h)
Estimated profit/loss - $ (i)
Loss ratio (j)

Total profit/loss (k)
Tot profit/loss % of EP(l)
GWP on Gazette Rates (m)
Est EP on Gazette Rates (n)

482.135
482.135

497.462
492.864

498.690
498.322

577.944
554.168

701.000
664.083

Difference in EP

(o)

137.940

120.218

104.951

86.859

61.130

Estimated profit/loss on Gazette rates (p)

101.227
21%

Number of active claims by accident year (s)
Notes :

310

56.011
11%

511

55.677
11%

119.360
172.025
22%
26%
Total profit/loss (q)
Tot profit/loss % of EP(r)
824
1225
2010

52.259

51.804

31.450

174.327
25%
678.625
20%
3789

140.192
22%
818.817
20%
11992

78.461
12%
897.278
19%

(a), (b) from section 5.5 of this report, estimated for the 2003 accident year. Assumed a 5% discount on Gazette rates in 2003.
(c) = greater of PwC and insurers reserves from section 3.3.1of this report. The 2003 accident year estimated as inflated average claim size x number incurred with 18%
assumed paid in DY0. Excludes 5% claim management expense allowance and risk margins.
(d) = (b) + (c)
(e) = (a) - (d)
(f) = 0.03 x (a) estimated
(g) = {total expense % from B2.4 in this report x (a)} - (f)
(h) = upto 1998, (1 - 0.8428) x (d) estimated using a range of Commonwealth bond yield curves over the period, actual rates applied for 1999 onwards
This is a theorectical allowance. Current market conditions indicate that most Australian long tail insurance classes are achieving much lower
investment returns, in some cases negative returns.
(i) = (e) - (f) - (g) + (h), where the % in the row below is of (a). Estimated profit/loss includes allowance for superimposed inflation, the rate change on
previous years and the 8% profit margin agreed by the Committee. It does not include the risk margins on outstanding claim reserves.
(j) = (d) / (a) %
(k) = sum of (i) in $M
(l) = (k) / sum of (a) %
(m) = gross written premium on the Gazette rates which applied for the year
(n) = estimated earned premium on Gazette rates allowing for 30% of GWP to be unearned at each 30 June. (n) = (m) for 1996
(o) = (n) - (a) ie Gazette earned premium minus insurer earned premium
(p) = (o) +(i) ie estimated profit on Gazette rates, where % in row below is of (n)
(q), (r) = defined as for (k) and (l) with reference to (p) and (n)

(s) = the number of open claims from the consolidated Form WC20s supplied by returning enitities.

Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers; Premium Rates Committee of Western Australia – Actuarial Assessment of the Recommended Premium Rates for 2003/04– May
2003, Page 16.
Annual Report 2002/03
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OVERVIEW AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Claim data represents information on lost time workers’
compensation claims by the financial year in which the claim was
lodged. This is in contrast to claim payments, which reflect
actual payments during a financial year. It should be noted that
no adjustments have been made for inflation, as costs are
grouped according to the year the claim was lodged and
expenses may span more than one year.
WorkCover continuously updates its lost time claims database as
information is received from approved insurers and self-insurers.
As claims information is dynamic in nature, this data should be
considered as a snapshot of the workers’ compensation system
in Western Australia. The claims data was extracted in
December 2002.
It should be noted that over time a greater proportion of lost time
claims become finalised and subsequent snapshots of the
system provide more up-to-date claims information. For
example, when data was extracted, 84.5% of claims lodged in
2000/01 and 54.7% of claims lodged in 2001/02 were finalised.
To maintain consistency, the following claims were excluded
from the analysis of lost time claims (for claims data only):
Journey claims between home and work;
Asbestos-related diseases, including mesothelioma and
pneumoconiosis;
Duplicated or disallowed (rejected) claims;
Claims with less than one working day absence from work;
and
Claims with less than one whole shift absence from work.

Number of Claims Lodged
Statistical Report 1998/99 - 2001/02

NUMBER OF LOST-TIME CLAIMS LODGED
25000

24835
23129
19647

Number of Claims

20000

18842

In 2001/02, 18,842 lost time workers’ compensation claims were
lodged. The number of claims lodged between 1998/99 and
2001/02 decreased each year, with an overall decrease of 24.1%
over the four year period. Between 2000/01 and 2001/02 the
number of lost time claims lodged decreased by 4.1%.

Proportion of Claims and Cost: 2001/02
Statistical Report 1998/99 - 2001/02

LOST-TIME CLAIMS BY DURATION (<60 OR >=
60 DAYS) AND COST: 2001/02
80

79.2%
74.2%

70
60
Percentage

Claim Statistics

50
40
30

25.8%
20.8%

20
10
0
<60 Days

Number of Claims

60+ Days

Cost

Figure 3: Lost Time Claims by Duration and Cost: 2001/02

In 2001/02, there was a disproportionate relationship between
the numbers of long duration claims (claims of 60 or more
working days lost) to the total cost of claims. Long duration
claims accounted for 20.8% of all lost time claims and 74.2% of
claim costs in 2001/02.
Note: The cost information includes actual payments for long
duration claims and estimated costs (as indicated by insurers) for
long duration claims that were not finalised when the data was
compiled. Fatalities are each assigned 220 working days lost.

15000
10000
5000
0
98/99

99/00

00/01

01/02

Figure 2: Number of Lost Time Claims Lodged 1998/992001/02
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Frequency Rate by Gender

Active Claims as at 30 June 2002

Statistical Report 1998/99 - 2001/02

Statistical Report 1998/99 - 2001/02

Frequency Rate

FREQUENCY RATE BY GENDER
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YEAR OF LODGEMENT FOR CLAIMS ACTIVE
IN 2001/02
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Figure 4: Frequency Rate by Gender: 1998/99-2001/02

In 2001/02, 70.6% of all lost time claims were reported by male
workers. Female workers reported 29.4% of claims. The
frequency rate represents the number of lost time claims per
million hours worked. There has been a decrease of 31.8% in
the frequency rate of lost time claims over the four years from
1998/99 to 2001/02. Over the same period, the frequency rate
for male workers decreased by 34.4% and the frequency rate for
female workers decreased by 23.2%. In the year from 2000/01
to 2001/02, the frequency rate for male workers decreased by
8.6% from 17.4 to 15.8 lost time claims per million hours worked.
However, the frequency rate for female workers increased by
1.8% during the same period.
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Figure 5: Year of Lodgement for Claims Active as at 30 June
2002

As at 30 June 2002, there were 40,868 active lost time claims.
Of these, 18,842 (46.1%) were lodged in 2001/02, 8,720 (21.3%)
were lodged in 2000/01, 4,662 (11.4%) were lodged in 1999/00,
2,610 (6.4%) were lodged in 1998/99 and the remaining 6,034
(14.8%) were lodged in prior years.
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Our Mission and Vision
Mission

Vision

To minimise the social and economic impact on
workers of work-related injury and disease and
achieve cost effectiveness for employers and the
community.

Workers, employers, service providers and
WorkCover working together to achieve a workers’
compensation scheme that is fair, accessible to
injured workers and affordable to employers and the
community.

Our Structure and Management
The structure and management of WorkCover is outlined in this section including:
• Establishment and Enabling Legislation
• Legislation Administered
• Authority and Funding
• Role
• Organisational Structure
• Operating Structure

Establishment and Enabling
Legislation
The Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission (the
Commission) was established in May 1982 upon proclamation of
the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. The
Commission is constituted under section 94 (1) of the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.
Under an amendment to the Workers' Compensation and
Rehabilitation Act 1981 that came into effect on 24 December
1993, the Commission is authorised to use and operate under
the trading name WorkCover (WorkCover WA or WorkCover
Western Australia).

Legislation Administered
The Commission administers:
the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981;
the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980;
the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation (Acts of
Terrorism) Act 2001;
the Waterfront Workers’ (Compensation for Asbestos
Related Diseases) Act 1986; and
the Employers’ Indemnity Policies (Premium Rates) Act
1990.
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Authority and Funding
Funding for the Commission's activities is provided via an annual
levy on premiums paid by employers to insurers approved to
underwrite workers’ compensation insurance in Western
Australia and by self insurers.

Changes to Written Laws
During 2002/03, the following changes to written laws occurred:
The Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation (Acts of
Terrorism) Amendment Act 2002 received Royal Assent.
Gazettal of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Acts of Terrorism) (Final Day) Regulations 2002.
Gazettal of the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation
Fund Amendment Regulations 2003.
Gazettal of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Amendment Regulations 2003.
Gazetted the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations 2003.
Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2003.
Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2003.

WorkCover Western Australia
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Organisational Structure

Role
The primary role of the Commission is to administer the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981, the purposes of
which are:
(1)

to make provision for the compensation of:
(i) Workers who suffer a disability; and
(ii) Certain dependants of those workers where the
death of the worker results from such a disability.

(2)

to promote the rehabilitation of injured workers with a view
to restoring them to the fullest capacity for gainful
employment of which they are capable;

(3)

to promote safety measures in and in respect of
employment aimed at preventing or minimising
occurrences of disabilities; and

(3) to make provision for the hearing and determination of
disputes between parties involved in workers’
compensation matters in a manner that is fair, just,
economical, informal and quick.

Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation Commission
The Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission is a
statutory authority that comprises of a Chairman and six
Members. The Commission exercises the functions, powers and
duties conferred under the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation Act 1981. The day to day administration has been
delegated by the Commission to the Executive Director who
directs the operations of the agency. The Executive Director and
all other personnel engaged by the Commission are employed
under the provisions of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
For the purposes of this report, when referring to the
Commission as an organisation, the name WorkCover will be
used. The names Commission or Workers' Compensation and
Rehabilitation Commission will be used to refer to WorkCover's
governing body. The Commission, with legislative authority to
perform the functions, determines and monitors the agency’s
budget; approves performance targets; approves and reviews
service providers; and determines policy. The Commission
monitors operating, financial and scheme performance through
monthly reports. The Executive Director then implements the
resolutions of the Commission via the responsible division within
the agency.

Minister for Consumer and
Employment Protection
Hon John Kobelke MLA

Premium
Rates
Committee

Industrial
Diseases
Medical
Panel

WORKERS’
COMPENSATION
AND
REHABILITATION
COMMISSION

Audit & Budget
Advisory Committee

Executive Director
MR HARRY NEESHAM

Conciliation & Review
Directorate

Operations & Support
Division

Strategic Policy &
Planning Division

Figure 6: Organisational Structure as at 30 June 2003
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Membership to the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation
Commission
Section 95 of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act
1981 states that the Commission is to consist of a Chairman
recommended by the Hon Minister and appointed by the
Governor. The Chairman is a public servant who, in the opinion
of the Hon Minister, has had administrative experience at a
senior level. In accordance with the provisions of the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 the Executive
Director of WorkCover shall be a Member of the Commission.
In addition, the Commission is to consist of five other nominee
Members who shall be persons respectively experienced in
management in commerce or industry, or both; experienced in
trade union affairs; experienced in the insurance business but
not employed in the Insurance Commission of Western Australia;
employed in the Insurance Commission of Western Australia;
and a medical practitioner. Under section 95 (4), deputy
Members to the Members of the Workers' Compensation and
Rehabilitation Commission may also be appointed.
Membership to the Commission was appointed from 3 May 2003
for a one year period. Government places significant trust in the
Commission to perform its obligations and responsibilities. As
such Commission Members perform their duties honestly,
openly, in good faith and with a high order of care and diligence.

Members
Members of the Commission are as follows:
Mr Brian Bradley, PSM (Chairman)
On the 24th December 2002, Mr Bradley was appointed as the
Director General of the Department of Consumer and
Employment Protection. Mr Bradley is the WorkSafe Western
Australia Commissioner and is also the Western Australian
representative on the National Occupational Health and Safety
Commission. He was appointed Chairman to the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission on 3 May 2000.
Mr Harry Neesham
Mr Neesham is the Executive Director of WorkCover. He has
served as the Deputy Chairman and a Member of the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission since its inception
in 1982.
Mr Vic Evans
Mr Evans is the Managing Director of the Insurance Commission
of Western Australian and the nominee of the Insurance
Commission of Western Australia. He has served as a Member
on the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
since 1992.
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Mr Evans has extensive experience in insurance and is a
member of the Road Safety Council and a Fellow of the
Australian Institute of Management WA.
Mr Nigel Glass, AM
Mr Glass was appointed as a Member to the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission in May 1997 and
is the nominee of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry (WA).
He is the Chief Executive Officer of the Paraplegic Quadriplegic
Association of WA (Inc) and the Civilian Maimed and Limbless
Association of WA Inc. Mr Glass has an extensive and ongoing
interest in rehabilitation, occupational safety and health issues
and workers’ compensation. He is the Chairperson of the Health
and Community Services Council and the Occupational Health,
Safety and Workers’ Compensation Committees, as well as a
board member of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry (WA).
Mr Daryl Cameron
Mr Cameron is the Group Manager, WA & NT, of the Insurance
Council of Australia and has 28 years of experience in the
insurance industry. Mr Cameron has been a member of the
Commission since April 1996. He is also an affiliate of the
Australian Insurance Institute and has served in senior positions
for several national and international insurance and banking
companies.
Ms Miriam Angus
Ms Angus has been a Member of the Workers’ Compensation
and Rehabilitation Commission since July 1999 and is a
nominee of Unions WA. The Executive Officer for the Labour
Movement Work Experience Programme, Ms Angus is legally
qualified and has extensive experience in trade union affairs,
particularly in the area of workers’ compensation.
Dr Robert Gillett
Dr Gillett is a specialist medical practitioner and a nominee of the
WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner to the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission. He has served
as a Member on the Commission since 1991 and has extensive
experience in the area of occupational medicine and workers’
compensation medicine.

Deputy Members
Deputy Members as at 30 June 2003 are as follows:
Ms Diane Munrowd, Deputy Member for Mr Harry
Neesham;
Mr Lew Watts, Deputy Member for Mr Vic Evans;
Ms Anne Bellamy, Deputy Member for Mr Nigel Glass;
Mr Garry Moore, Deputy Member for Mr Daryl Cameron;
Ms Stephanie Mayman, Deputy Member for Ms Miriam
Angus; and
Dr Brian Dare, Deputy Member for Dr Robert Gillett.

WorkCover Western Australia
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Resignation of Deputy Member
During 2002/03, Mr Doug Pascoe resigned as a Deputy Member
and his contribution to the Commission is acknowledged.

Code of Conduct for the Commission
and its Advisory Committees

Powers of Delegation

During 2002/03, the Commission amended and re-endorsed
their Code of Conduct. The Code promotes good practice,
identifying the obligations of Members and provides guidance on
ethical conduct.

The power to delegate authorities, obligations and duties is
conferred upon the Commission under section 101 (f) of the
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.

Commission Advisory Committees

Disclosure of Interest in an Existing or
Proposed Contract
In accordance with Treasurers Instruction 903, the following
Senior Officers have declared interests in existing or proposed
contracts with WorkCover.
Commission Chairman Mr Brian Bradley is the Director General
of Department of Consumer and Employment Protection and the
WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner.
WorkCover
provides funding to support preventative activities relative to the
ThinkSafe Campaign run by WorkSafe and the forums
undertaken by WorkSafe in conjunction with WorkCover and the
Department of Industrial Relations.
Commission Member Mr Nigel Glass is the Chief Executive
Officer of the Paraplegic Quadriplegic Association of WA (Inc)
which has a grounds maintenance contract with WorkCover.
Commission Member Mr Vic Evans is Managing Director of the
Insurance Commission of Western Australia which, for an agreed
administration fee, during 2002/03 provided a claims
management service for workers’ compensation insurance
claims lodged against the Employers’
Indemnity
Supplementation Fund and the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation General Fund.
Commission Deputy Member Mr Lew Watts is General Manager
of Insurance for the Insurance Commission of Western Australia
(from 14 December 2002) which, for an agreed administration
fee, during 2002/03 provided a claims management service for
workers’ compensation insurance claims lodged against the
Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund and the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation General Fund.
Commission Deputy Member (retired) Mr Doug Pascoe was
General Manager of Insurance for the Insurance Commission of
Western Australia (from 1 July 2002 to 13 December 2002)
which, for an agreed administration fee, during 2002/03 provided
a claims management service for workers’ compensation
insurance claims lodged against the Employers’ Indemnity
Supplementation Fund and the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation General Fund.
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The corporate governance responsibilities of the Workers'
Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission are discharged in
part by several advisory committees constituted under section
100(A) of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act
1981. The following advisory committees were constituted until
3 May 2003:
•

Accreditation and Monitoring Advisory Committee;

•

Audit and Budget Advisory Committee;

•

Grants Advisory Committee;

•

Insurer and Self Insurer Advisory Committee;

•

Legislative Review Advisory Committee; and

•

Medical and Allied Services Advisory Committee.

After 3 May 2003, only the Audit and Budget Advisory
Committee, Legislative Review Advisory Committee and Medical
and Allied Services Advisory Committee were reconstituted.
A Member of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Commission chairs each Committee. Membership comprises
Members or Deputy Members of the Commission or a nominee
of the representative body on the Commission.

Accreditation and Monitoring Advisory
Committee (until 3 May 2003)
Under section 156A (2) of the legislation the Commission is
responsible for the approval of a person as a rehabilitation
provider. In order to effectively discharge these responsibilities
the Commission requires the Accreditation and Monitoring
Advisory Committee to establish performance criteria against
which it reviews new applications and existing approvals. It
advises the Commission on whether each approved
rehabilitation provider complies with the provisions of the
legislation and approval guidelines.

Audit and Budget Advisory Committee
The Audit and Budget Advisory Committee undertakes the
functions of audit and budget on behalf of the Commission. The
Audit function relates to advising the Commission on the audit
measures to achieve the effective and efficient administrative
performance of the Commission. The budget function relates to
the review of WorkCover’s budget and recommendation to the
full Commission.
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Grants Advisory Committee (until 3 May 2003)

Executive Director
MR HARRY NEESHAM

The Grants Advisory Committee advises the Commission on
priority initiatives for research into prevention and workers'
compensation and the allocation of research funding.

Strategic Policy & Planning Division
Director – MS DIANE MUNROWD

Insurer and Self Insurer Advisory Committee (until

• Strategic Policy and Planning
• Legislation
• National Committees

3 May 2003)
The Commission relies on this forum as an opportunity to
provide feedback and to consult with insurers and self insurers in
Western Australia on their performance within the workers’
compensation system.

Operations & Support Division
Director – MR PHIL SCALES

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Legislative Review Advisory Committee
The Legislative Review Advisory Committee reviews and
recommends appropriate action to the Commission on issues
relating to the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act
1981 and related legislation and regulations.

Education & Promotions
Regulation
Operational Planning, Review and Support
Human Resources
Finance and Investments
Corporate Information
Scheme Information
Technical Support

Conciliation & Review Directorate
Director - MR ROSS MONGER

Medical and Allied Services Advisory Committee

•
•
•
•
•

The Medical and Allied Services Advisory Committee provides
the Commission with recommendations for fee structures and
service schedules for the delivery of medical/allied health and
vocational rehabilitation services; and matters relating to the
effective delivery of these services.

Review
Conciliation
Registry
Civil Disputes
Compensation Magistrate

Figure 7: Operating Structure as at 30 June 2003

Operating Structure
The administration of WorkCover has been delegated by the
Commission to the Executive Director who directs the day to day
operations of the agency. The Executive Director, Mr Harry
Neesham, heads a corporate executive team responsible for
overseeing the administration of the agency and establishing
agency policy.

Corporate Executive
The Corporate Executive comprises of the Executive Director
and Directors. Corporate Executive’s primary role is to develop
criteria for determining the appropriateness of Commission
matters and support the Commission in setting strategic
direction.

Corporate Group

Divisions
WorkCover’s outputs are delivered and operations conducted
within an administrative structure consisting of:
•

Executive Office;

•

Strategic Policy and Planning;

•

Operations and Support; and

•

Conciliation and Review.

Executive Office
Executive Office provides direct support to the Executive
Director; the Insurers Advisory Committee established under the
Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980 and coordination of activities for the Premium Rates Committee.

The Corporate Group comprises of the Corporate Executive,
Managers and senior staff. The Corporate Group’s role is to
review Commission resolutions and attend to administrative
matters of the agency.
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Strategic Policy and Planning
The division was created under a recent re-structure and has a
strategic focus to assist the Commission and Government in
effectively managing the workers’ compensation system in
Western Australia. The division undertakes a strategic policy
and planning role to ensure WorkCover is meeting Commission
and Government objectives. Emphasis is placed on strategic
development, research and data analysis, policy advice and
drafting legislation, coordination of ministerial requirements
relating to policy and legislative change, ministerial briefings,
media responses and participation in Commission and national
workers' compensation committees.

Operations and Support
The division is responsible for both operational and support
services to Acts administered by the Commission.
The division:
Ensures compliance with legislation via the
accreditation/licensing and monitoring of service providers;
inspection of employers to ensure they hold a current policy
of insurance and administration of noise induced hearing
loss legislation.
Delivers information, education and training to customers
and is responsible for all promotional activities of the
agency.
Ensures the human, financial and physical resources are
available to support the operations of the agency and the
delivery of outputs.
Supports the on-line service delivery environment.
Manages trust funds established under legislation.
Undertakes performance evaluation and corporate
reporting.
Provides support to the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel;
Commission; Premium Rates Committee; and a number of
Advisory Committees of the Commission.

Senior Officers
Mr Harry Neesham – Executive Director
Mr Neesham has been the Executive Director of WorkCover
since its inception in 1982 and is a founding Member and current
Convenor of the Heads of Workers' Compensation Authorities of
Australia.
Ms Diane Munrowd - Director, Strategic Policy and Planning
Ms Diane Munrowd has been the Director of Strategic Policy and
Planning Division since March 2002. Ms Munrowd has a
Masters Degree in rehabilitation and has extensive experience in
workers’ compensation and injury management at a state and
national level.
Mr Phil Scales – Director, Operations and Support
Mr Scales has been the Director of Operations and Support
since March 2002 and has worked in the public sector since
1976. Mr Scales has a background in information technology
and more recently corporate services area.
Mr Ross Monger - Director, Conciliation and Review
Mr Monger has been the Director, Conciliation and Review since
the inception of the Directorate in March 1994. He has extensive
experience of some 25 years in Courts and Court Administration.
WorkCover’s Corporate Executive members are pictured below.

Conciliation and Review
The division provides a service for the resolution of disputed
workers’ compensation claims and the registration of
agreements between parties in the workers’ compensation
scheme.
This includes the recording of agreements and the resolution of
disputes regarding the degree of workers’ disabilities in cases
where workers seek to take civil proceedings for damages
against employers, independently of the Workers’ Compensation
and Rehabilitation Act 1981.
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Left to Right: Phil Scales, Harry Neesham, Diane Munrowd, and
Ross Monger
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Performance Measurement
This section provides the following information:
• Summary of Outcomes and Outputs
• Performance Measurement Programme

Summary of Outcomes and Outputs
To fulfil its mission, WorkCover seeks to achieve the three Outcomes of Information and Education, Scheme Regulation and Dispute
Resolution through delivering the Outputs of Information & Education, Compliance, Accreditation & Licensing, Dispute Resolution and
Registration of Agreements.

Outcome 1
Information & Education
Workers’ compensation scheme
Participants are aware of their rights
and responsibilities regarding workers’
compensation and injury
management.

Mission
To minimise the social and
economic impact on workers of
work-related injury and disease and
achieve cost effectiveness for
employers and the community

Outcome 2
Scheme Regulation
Workers’ compensation scheme
participants comply with legislative
requirements and standards.

Output 1
Information & Education
Information & education provided to workers’
compensation scheme participants and the
general community to increase their knowledge
of their rights and responsibilities with respect
to the scheme, workers’ compensation and
injury management.

Output 2
Compliance
Inspections and investigations conducted to ensure
compliance with workers’ compensation legislation
and prosecution of non complying parties.

Output 3
Accreditation & Licensing
Monitoring and accreditation / licensing of
workers’ compensation scheme service providers
to ensure compliance with workers’ compensation
legislation and the delivery of an appropriate
standard of service.

Output 4
Dispute Resolution
Effective resolution of workers’ compensation
disputes in a manner that is equitable, accessible
and independent.

Outcome 3
Dispute Resolution
Workers’ compensation disputes are
resolved and agreements are
registered.

Output 5
Registration of Agreements
Registration of memorandums of agreement
where parties agree to settle a claim for
compensation in accordance with the Act and the
recording of agreements regarding the degree
of a worker’s disability where workers’ seek to
take civil proceedings for damages.

Figure 8: Summary of the Agency’s Mission, Outcomes and Outputs
In 2002/03, Policy Advice was deleted from WorkCover’s
Performance Indicators. The difficulty in reflecting the amount
and impact of policy advice provided by the Agency could lead to
inaccurate reporting of effectiveness. There is also an inherent
indication that the provision of policy to Government is deemed
as a support function and not a primary output of an agency.
Given that the total direct cost of providing policy advice last
financial year was only 2.6% of WorkCover’s budget, the Agency
concluded that this activity does not require an effectiveness
indicator.
The deletion of Policy Advice affected WorkCover’s Key
Effectiveness and Efficiency Indicators. Key Effectiveness
Indicator Outcome 1 changed from ‘Information, Education and
Advice’ to ‘Information and Education’.
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Policy Advice Output was deleted from the Key Efficiency
Indicators and the remaining Outputs were re-numbered. The
total cost of Policy Advice was apportioned accordingly to the
remaining five Outputs. The effect from such a move has
increased the average cost of each Output for the current year.
As such, the average cost from the last three years (2000 –
2002) were re-calculated using the same method of
apportionment, without Policy Advice, to come up with a
comparable average cost. The 1998/99 financial data was
insufficient to create a similar apportionment and the comparison
year of 1999 was removed.

WorkCover Western Australia

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS
Performance Measurement Programme
WorkCover evaluates its performance at two levels:
1.

Corporate – Key Performance Indicators; and

2.

Operational – Output Performance Measures

Corporate Performance Measure
Key Performance Indicators
At the corporate level, performance is measured via Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs comprise of Key Effectiveness and
Efficiency Indicators. Key Effectiveness Indicators denote the extent to which the Agency has achieved its Outcome and Key Efficiency
Indicators represent the cost with which services are delivered.

Achieving Outcomes –
Key Effectiveness Indicators
Key effectiveness indicators show the extent to which the
Agency has achieved the outcomes set by Government.

Outcome 1: Information and Education
Workers’ compensation scheme participants are aware of
their rights and responsibilities regarding workers’
compensation and injury management.

Effectiveness Indicator 1.1– Seminar Attendees

The percentage of attendees at WorkCover
information and education seminars who reported an
increase in their level of knowledge of the workers’
compensation scheme as a result of the
information/education provided to them:
100%

96%

98%

98%

99%

98%

80%
60%

WorkCover has adopted a two pronged approach to its delivery
of information and education.
Firstly, key groups of scheme participants are targeted for
delivery of information and education in seminar style sessions.
This approach directs specific information to those most in need.
Secondly, answers are provided to participant’s enquiries on a
one-to-one basis through WorkCover’s general enquiry service.
People who attend seminars or contact the Agency’s telephone
enquiry service are surveyed to determine if the information
provided increased their knowledge of their rights and
responsibilities in regard to the workers’ compensation scheme.
The results of these surveys demonstrate WorkCover’s
effectiveness.
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Customer response to WorkCover’s information and education
seminars remains extremely positive. For the fifth year in a row,
most survey respondents reported that they had increased their
knowledge as a result of attending the seminars high level
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Effectiveness indicator 2.1 - Compliance

Effectiveness Indicator 1.2 – Enquiries

Percentage of new employers found to hold workers’
compensation insurance at the time of inspection:

Percentage of Info-line callers responding to a survey
who indicated their level of knowledge of the workers’
compensation scheme increased as a result of the
information provided to them during their Info-line call:
100%

83%

78%

84%

88%

94.9%

100%

98.7%

96.5% 97.2%

80%

93%
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The percentage of Info-line callers who reported an increase in
knowledge continues to improve with a 5% increase in positive
responses over the last financial year.

The level of compliance by new employers continues to improve
over the past four years. WorkCover is committed to maintaining
this standard.

Effectiveness indicator 2.2 – Accreditation and Licensing

Percentage of service providers
accreditation/licensing standards:

Outcome 2: Scheme Regulation
Workers’ compensation scheme participants comply with
legislative requirements and standards.

100%
100%
100%

87%

that

met

100% 100% 100%

100%

92%

79%
80%

81%
73%

80%

60%

WorkCover is responsible for assisting the Hon Minister for
Consumer and Employment Protection in the administration of
the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. In line
with this responsibility, the Agency seeks to secure compliance
with the provisions of the Act.
It is fundamental to the operation of the scheme that employers
hold a workers’ compensation insurance policy. Non-compliance
would result in increased premium rates and pressure on the
General Fund.
WorkCover seeks to ensure employers hold appropriate workers’
compensation insurance cover through workplace visits and
contact with employers by letter and telephone.
Key service providers, ie. insurers and self insurers, vocational
rehabilitation providers and approved (hearing) testers, are
subjected to accreditation or licensing standards and their
activities monitored. Service providers that do not consistently
deliver services to the agreed standard have sanctions imposed
upon them.
WorkCover’s effectiveness in achieving the Scheme Regulation
Outcome is measured by the level of compliance by employers
and service providers with legislative requirements and
standards.
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Vocational Rehabilitation Providers

Approved Testers

In 2002/2003, audiologists were included in the category of
Approved Testers together with the air conduction testers. The
reduction in the percentage of approved testers meeting
accreditation standards is due primarily to an increase in the
number of testers who failed to complete the required minimum
number of test (12) in their 12 month approval period. Three out
of eleven approved insurers failed to achieve satisfactory
performance on one of the seven performance indicators of the
Insurance Performance Monitoring Programme.

WorkCover Western Australia

2002

2003

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS
Effectiveness Indicator 3.2 – Dispute Resolution
(Timeliness)

Outcome 3: Dispute Resolution
Workers’ compensation disputes are resolved and
agreements registered.
WorkCover’s Conciliation and Review Directorate seeks to
resolve disputes between parties in the workers’ compensation
system through a system of conciliation and review hearings. As
parties to a dispute must agree before a dispute is resolved at
conciliation, this level of resolution is seen as the most desirable
outcome to a dispute. Timeliness of the dispute resolution is
also a key objective of the process.

Percentage of workers’ compensation scheme
disputes lodged with WorkCover’s Conciliation and
Review Directorate resolved within 12 weeks of
lodgement.
100%
80%

69%

65%

60%

60%

60%

Effectiveness Indicator 3.1 – Dispute Resolution

Percentage of workers’ compensation disputes lodged
with WorkCover’s Conciliation and Review Directorate
resolved at conciliation:
100%

83%

84%

82%

80%

77%

75%

60%

59%

40%
20%
0%
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The percentage of matters resolved within 12 weeks of
lodgement has remained fairly constant for the last 3 years.

Achieving Outcomes –
Key Efficiency Indicators

40%
20%
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The reduction in the percentage of disputes resolved at
conciliation reflects a trend over the last 3 years for parties to
request the more formal review process to resolve disputes.

WorkCover’s efficiency is measured by way of Key Efficiency
Indicators that measure the cost of services by cost per quantity
unit delivered. Each efficiency indicator shows the cost per
output unit for a particular output.

Output 1
The cost per contact to provide information, education
and training services:
$74

$80
$60

$55

$63

$48

$40
$20
$0
2000

2001

2002

2003

The number of general enquiry contacts was significantly lower
than last year (6% reduction) largely due to a drop in the number
of Infoline calls and information session attendees.
The drop in the number of enquiry contacts resulted in an
increased cost of 16%.
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Output 2

Output 4

The cost per inspection to ensure compliance with the
Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act:

The cost per dispute to resolve disputes:
$1,777
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The number of inspections resulting from the new business
registration initiative and field based inspections together with
lapsed policy inspections increased commensurate with
increased costs resulting in a relatively stable cost per
inspection.

The cost per dispute resolved has increased over previous years
primarily due to more matters being referred to the review stage
in the dispute resolution process and a reduced number of
applications received.

Output 5

Output 3
The average weighted cost per service provider to
monitor accredited/licensed service providers:
$5,779

$6,000
$5,000

$1,575

$90

$4,427

$4,428

The
cost
per
agreement
agreements/determinations.

to
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$400
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$200
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2000

The average weighted cost to monitor service providers
increased due to a reduction in the number of insurers from 13 to
11 in the current year. The reduction impacts on the performance
indicator because of the weighting applied to this class of service
provider. The impact of additional staff resources in this area is
also a factor.
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The number of agreements processed remained fairly constant.
However determinations increased using existing resources
resulting in a reduction in the cost per agreement/determination.
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Operational Performance Measures
In addition to the Key Performance Indicators, Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires that Agencies report Output Performance Measures of
quantity, quality, timeliness and cost. These measures are reported as WorkCover’s operational measures.

Delivering Outputs
The following are WorkCover’s performance measures of quantity, quality, timeliness and cost in relation to each of its five Outputs of
Information and Education; Compliance; Accreditation and Licensing; Dispute Resolution and Registration of Agreements.

Output 1

Information and Education

Information and Education
Information and education is provided to workers’ compensation scheme participants
and the general community to increase their knowledge of their rights and
responsibilities in relation to the scheme and workers’ compensation and injury
management generally.
Quantity
Number of :
• General enquiry contacts
• Information session attendees
Quality
Percentage of callers/attendees who have increased their knowledge of the workers’
compensation system as a result of information provided by WorkCover:
• Infoline callers
• Information session attendees

2002/03

2002/03

Estimate

Actual

28,800
1,900

22,947(1)
1,645(2)

80%
94%

93%(3)
98%

90%

95%

100%

100%

$31
$468

$40
$554(4)

Timeliness
•
•

Infoline callers who reported satisfaction with the time taken to respond to their
information request
Information sessions held on time in accordance with planned session dates.

Cost
•
•

General enquiry contact
Information session attendee

Total Output Cost

$1,777,730

$1,824,288

Significant Variances
(1)

The forecast included an allowance for the increase in the number of calls expected following the announcement of the
Government’s Reform Package progressing through Parliament. This process did not occur during the 2003/03 financial year.

(2)

The decrease in information session attendees is directly related to the postponement of Injury Management Week from May
to August. The event was evaluated and will be presented as a conference on the 7th and 8th August 2003 titled “Partnerships
in Injury Management Conference 2003.”

(3)

There has been an increase in the number of callers valuing the quality of information they receive from WorkCover WA’s
Infoline Service.

(4)

The decrease in information session attendees is directly related to the postponement of Injury Management Week from May
to August has resulted in costs for 2002/03 to be inflated in comparison to the estimate.
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Output 2

Compliance

Compliance
Inspections and investigations to ensure compliance with workers’ compensation
legislation and prosecution of non complying parties.
Quantity
Number of inspections conducted
Quality
Percentage of identified breaches resolved following intervention by WorkCover
Timeliness
The length of time between WorkCover identifying the General Fund as being on risk
and the rectification of the breach
Cost
Cost per inspection
Total Output Cost

2002/03

2002/03

Estimate

Actual

21,600

27,891(1)

100%

100%

Unavailable

Unavailable

$65

$53(2)

$1,405,142

$1,488,862

Significant Variance
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(1)

The continuing success of the new business registration initiative and field based inspections together with the increased
number of lapsed policy inspections resulted in a greater number of inspections achieved.

(2)

As no additional resources were employed to carry out the increased number of inspections (see note 1 above) the cost per
inspection decreased from the $65 estimated to $53.
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Output 3

Accreditation and Licensing

Accreditation and Licensing
Monitoring and accreditation of key workers’ compensation scheme service providers
to ensure compliance with workers’ compensation legislation and the delivery of an
appropriate standard of service.
Quantity
Number of providers subject to monitoring:
• Insurers
• Self insurers
• Vocational rehabilitation providers
• Approved testers

2002/03

2002/03

Estimate

Actual

11
34
42
275

11
29(1)
45
333(2)

Quality
Percentage of providers which met minimum standards:
• Insurers
• Self insurers
• Vocational rehabilitation providers
• Approved testers

100%
100%
100%
85%

73%(3)
100%
100%
74%(4)

Timeliness
Percentage of providers reviewed in accordance with terms of accreditation/licensing:
• Insurers
• Self insurers
• Vocational rehabilitation providers
• Approved testers

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

$13,008
$4,209
$6,814
$754

$13,046
$4,949(5)
$6,378
$640(6)

$779,860

$787,303

Cost
Cost per service provider
• Insurers
• Self insurers
• Vocational rehabilitation providers
• Approved testers
Total Output Cost

Significant Variances
(1)

The number of self-insurers applying and/or receiving exemption under the Act did not increase as anticipated.

(2)

The approved testers service provider category included for the first time in 2002/2003 Audiologists (73) who were also
subject to monitoring.

(3)

Three of the eleven approved insurers failed to achieve satisfactory performance in one of the seven performance indicators
of the Insurer Performance Monitoring Programme.

(4)

The number of approved testers who failed to complete the required minimum of 12 tests in their twelve months approval
period was significantly more than anticipated.

(5)

Due to the number of self-insurers subject to monitoring being less than expected the actual cost per monitoring each is
greater than that estimated.

(6)

Due to the increase in the number of approved testers (including Audiologists) subject to monitoring the actual cost to monitor
each is significantly less than that estimated.
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Output 4

Dispute Resolution

Dispute Resolution
The resolution of workers’ compensation disputes in a manner that is equitable,
accessible and independent.
Quantity
Number of:
• Disputes resolved

2002/03

2002/03

Estimate

Actual

4,000

3,544 (1)

Quality
Percentage of:
• Disputes resolved at conciliation

80%

75%(2)

Timeliness
Percentage of disputes resolved:
• Within 4 weeks of lodgement
• Within 4-8 weeks of lodgement
• Within 8-12 weeks of lodgement

25%
25%
10%

30%
20%
9%

$1,504

$1,777(3)

Cost
Cost per:
• Dispute resolved
Total Output Cost

$6,017,101

$6,296,486

Significant Variances
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(1)

The number of disputes resolved was less than estimated due to a reduced number of applications.

(2)

The reduction in the percentage of disputes resolved at conciliation reflects an increasing trend over the last 3 years for parties
to request to progress to the more formal review process to resolve disputes.

(3)

The cost per dispute resolved was higher than previous years primarily due to more matters being referred to the review stage
in the dispute resolution process and a reduced number of applications received.
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Output 5

Registration of Agreements

Registration of Agreements
Registration of memorandums of agreements where parties agree to settle a claim for
compensation in accordance with the Act and recording of agreements regarding the
degree of a worker’s disability where workers seek to take civil proceedings for
damages.

2002/03

2002/03

Estimate

Actual

Quantity
Number of Memorandums of Agreements finalised
Number of degree of disability agreements/determinations

3,500
600

4,168 (1)
558

Quality
Percentage of finalised memorandums of agreements that are registered
Percentage of degree of disability agreements/determinations recorded

95%
100%

90%(2)
100%

Timeliness
Percentage of memorandums of agreements finalised within 4 weeks
Percentage of degree of disability agreements registered within seven days

90%
100%

91%
100%

$129
$3,092

$114
$2,885

$2,308,096

$2,083,673

Cost
•
•

Cost per Memorandum of Agreement registered
Cost per Agreement/determination registered

Total Output Costs

Significant Variances
(1)

The number of agreements finalised was 16% more than estimated. It was anticipated the number of redemptions would
reduce by a larger amount than what occurred. It is difficult to estimate the number of redemptions and is a matter that cannot
be controlled.

(2)

The percentage of agreements registered reduced slightly, mainly due to the quality of information being submitted in support
of the agreements.
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Our Employees
This section provides information on the agency’s strategies and programs to support
employees:
• Staffing Profile
• Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation for Agency Officers
• Employee Development and Training
• Equal Employment Opportunity
• Industrial Relations Environment
• Occupational Health and Safety Initiatives

Staffing Profile
WorkCover consists of 136 dedicated staff who are committed to
providing high quality, timely services to workers, employers and
the community of Western Australia. Employees are located on
premises in Shenton Park and West Perth. WorkCover's
approved average staffing level (FTE) for the 2002/03 financial
year was 133.5. The following table provides details of
WorkCover's employees categorised by gender and level with
comparative totals for 2002.
Table 6: Number of Employees by Gender as at 30 June
2003

Employees by Gender – at 30 June 2003
Male
8

(10)

Level 2

Female
30

(34)

5

(5)

Level 3

7

Level 4

Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation for Agency Officers
The following table provides details on workers’ compensation
and rehabilitation for agency officers.
Table 7: Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation for
Agency Officers

(comparative figures for 2002 are in parenthesis)

Level

The number of employees has remained stable over the past two
years, with a greater percentage of female to male employees.
A classification review was also undertaken during 2002/03 and
this resulted in a reclassification of levels for 22 staff members.

Total

1998/99 1999/00 2000/01 2001/02 2002/03

38

(44)

Number of lost time injuries

2

0

1

0

2

18

(17)

23

(22)

8.51

0.00

3.74

0.00

7.61

(12)

10

(14)

17

(26)

Frequency rate (per million
hours worked)

7

(4)

6

(3)

13

(7)

Incidence rate (per 100
workers)

1.72

0.00

0.73

0.00

1.46

Level 5

10

(8)

7

(6)

17

(14)

1.080

0.613

0.099

0.00

0.448

Level 6

5

(2)

0

(1)

5

(3)

Estimate cost of claims
incurred per $100 wage roll
Premium rate (%)

Level 7

7

(7)

3

(2)

10

(9)

0.56% 0.93% 0.88% 0.50% 0.58%

Level 8

1

(1)

1

(0)

2

(1)

- Finalised

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Level 9

5

(5)

4

(3)

9

(8)

- Ongoing

2

1

1

2

2

Above Level 9

2

(2)

0

(0)

2

(2)

TOTAL

57

(56)

79

(80)

136

(136)

Level 1

1.

The average employment figure (FTE) for 2002/03 was 131.9. This was
below the AASL of 133.5.

2.

The total employee figure at 30 June 2003 is higher than the FTE figure
due to part time staff.
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Employee Development and
Training
The agency maintains a professional workforce through
recruitment of employees with relevant skills and qualifications.
To assist employees in maintaining and developing their skill
base the agency provided opportunities for professional and
personal development through appropriately targeted training.
Membership to relevant professional associations is also
encouraged. In addition, agency employees attended a range of
conferences, courses and seminars during the year.

Industrial Relations Environment
All WorkCover staff have ceased being covered by a Workplace
Agreement. As provided for in Public Service General
Agreement, the first WorkCover Agency Specific Agreement was
registered in March 2003. The Agency Specific Agreement
provides staff with improved flexibility with working hours and the
provision of paid parental leave.

Occupational Health and Safety
Initiatives

Areas of training undertaken in 2002/03 include:
computer skills;
communication skills;
dealing with aggressive and hostile clients;
first aid training;
leadership skills for women;
risk management; and
a range of training needs identified through the
performance management process.

In accordance with the agency’s focus on a safe and healthy
workplace, the following activities were undertaken in 2002/03:
an election of staff health and safety representatives;
training for the new Occupational Health and Safety
Representatives;
a workplace inspection was carried out by new
Occupational Health and Safety Representatives; and
a review and upgrade of ergonomic furniture and aids for
staff.

Equal Employment Opportunity

The agency also continued to provide an assistance program for
employees and their immediate family, including a confidential
counselling service. The existing wellness activities, to promote
well being in the workplace, were well attended by employees
during the year.

Progress has been made toward achieving priorities and
performance objectives in the Equity and Diversity Plan for 2003
and 2005 with the youth and indigenous Australian objectives
currently at the 2003 target levels. In addition, there has also
been an increase in the number of female staff in levels 4
through to 8.
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Compliance Requirements
This section relates to WorkCover’s compliance requirements including:
• Certification of Public Sector Standards, Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct
• Freedom of Information
• Statement of Expenditure – Electoral Act 1907
• Freedom of Information
• Waste Paper Recycling
• Energy
• Annual Estimates

Certification of Public Sector
Standards, Codes of Ethics and
Code of Conduct

Compliance with Public Sector Management Act Section
31(1)
1.

In the administration of WorkCover, I have complied with
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource
Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code
of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such
compliance and conducted appropriate internal
assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in
1 is correct.

3.

The applications made for breach of standards review and
the corresponding outcomes for the reporting period are:

WorkCover has adopted guidelines and processes supporting
the public sector standards in human resource management.
Policies and supporting guidelines and a code of conduct are
included in the human resource section of WorkCover’s intranet
site which is accessible to all staff. During the induction process
new staff are introduced to the public sector standards in human
resource management and code of ethics and code of conduct.
Directors are responsible for compliance with public sector
standards and ethical codes. A monitoring and advisory role is
played by the Manager Human Resources and staff in the
human resources area. As part of the internal audit program, a
review of WorkCover’s compliance with the public sector
standards in human resource management was conducted in
2003. There were no matters raised regarding compliance with
the Code of Ethics or WorkCover’s Code of Conduct.

Number lodged

NIL

Breaches found

NIL

Multiple breaches

NIL

Applications under review

NIL

Material breaches

NIL

Non-material breaches

NIL

_______________________________________
H T NEESHAM
Executive Director, WorkCover
Date: 19 August 2003
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Statement of Expenditure –
Electoral Act 1907
Section 175 (Z)(e) of the Electoral Act, 1907 requires the
publication of the details of certain classes of expenditure in an
agency’s annual report. Table 8 is a statement of expenditure in
accordance with Section 175 (Z)(e) of the Electoral Act, 1907.
Table 8: Statement of Expenditure: Electoral Act 1907 for
2002/03
CLASS OF EXPENDITURE

AMOUNT

ORGANISATION

Advertising Agencies
Direct Mail Organisations

$6,150 Northside Distributors
& Finishers

Market Research
Organisations
Media Advertising
Organisations

$18,102 Marketforce
Production

Polling Organisations
TOTAL

$24,252

Freedom of Information
The agency’s Freedom of Information function was performed in
accordance with the requirements of the Freedom of Information
Act 1992.
The majority of documents on workers’ compensation and injury
management are accessible to the general public through the
WorkCover internet site at www.workcover.wa.gov.au.
Documents freely downloadable from the internet include
information brochures, research reports, statistical information,
ministerial reviews, rates, fees and payments and corporate
reports.
Parties seeking information from WorkCover are not restricted to
the Freedom of Information process and where appropriate
requests for information are handled outside of the Act. The
agency has an appointed Freedom of Information Co-ordinator to
facilitate the handling of all requests.
For the year ending 30 June 2003, twenty one Freedom of
Information applications were received by the agency. Of those,
one application has yet to be finalised. Third parties were
consulted, where appropriate, and edited or full access was
provided for seventeen of those applications finalised. For the
three applications where access was not provided, in one case
the requested document did not exist, in another case the
application was withdrawn by the applicant and in the remaining
case, access was refused to a document determined by the
agency to be outside the provisions of the Freedom of
Information Act.
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An external review was requested in relation to this
determination and the Freedom of Information Commissioner
confirmed WorkCover’s decision not to provide access. On
average each application took 35 days to process.
If assistance is required in completing a request or inquiring on
its progress, the Freedom of Information Co-ordinator can be
contacted at 2 Bedbrook Place, Shenton Park WA 6008 or via
telephone on 08 9388 5555.

Waste Paper Recycling
WorkCover has a policy for waste paper recycling, which
encourages employees to recycle both paper and other materials
(ie. printer toner cartridges). This program is assisted by the
provision of paper collection bins in strategic locations. The
agency utilises an accredited contractor for recycling.

Energy
In accordance with the Energy Smart Government policy,
WorkCover has committed to achieving a 12% reduction in nontransport related energy use by 2006/07 with a 5% reduction
targeted for 2002/03. During the year the following energy
saving initiatives were taken:
An Energy Executive was appointed and a working group
established to implement ongoing education and
awareness programs.
Tenders were called for an energy audit which will be
conducted in both the West Perth and Shenton Park
buildings in the first quarter of 2003/04.
A number of upgrades and changes to the air conditioning
systems were effected to reduce consumption in both
WorkCover buildings. These included converting analogue
controls to digital for all the air handling, plant temperature
control boxes and installing variable speed drives to air
handling units to reduce running costs at Shenton Park. All
economy dampers, which control the amount of outside
fresh air used for cooling purposes, were replaced at West
Perth.
The results of WorkCover’s energy program for 2002/03 is
identified in table 9 below.
Table 9: Energy Smart Government Program for WorkCover
in 2002/03

Energy Consumption (MJ)

Baseline

2002/03

Variation
%

4,281,559

4,057,927

5.223

Energy Cost ($)
175,961
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
(tonnes of CO2)
1,094.4
Performance indicators:
MJ/sqm
596.84
MJ/FTE 29,193.72

170,856
1,037.21
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Annual Estimates
In accordance with the Treasurer’s Instruction 953, statutory authorities not operating as divisions of the Consolidated Fund are required to
include annual estimates for the current financial year in the Annual Report of the preceding year. The following estimates of expenditure
and revenue have been submitted and approved by the Hon Minister for 2003/04.

$
EXPENDITURE
Executive

488,401

Conciliation & Review

4,388,242

Strategic Policy Planning

1,100,446

Operation & Support

6,141,548

Non Program Items

1,280,244

Other
Rollovers/Purchase Orders
TOTAL

640,000
79,040
14,117,921

REVENUE
Conciliation & Review
Operation & Support

586,731

Non Program Items

45,000

Contributions
Prior Year Surplus
TOTAL
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7,150

13,143,172
335,868
14,117,921
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Access, Equity and Customer Focus
This section details information on WorkCover’s access, equity and customer focus
programs:
• Customer Focus
• Disability Services Plan
• Language and Cultural Diversity
• Regional Services
• Youth

WorkCover has maintained its use of customer feedback to
determine our success in delivering outputs and achieving our
outcomes. Our focus on customer needs assist the agency in
better aligning services and products. WorkCover has a
commitment to providing access and support to customers and
employees, with the goal of developing programs that target
identified groups. The agency aims to ensure customers and
employees with special needs have access to appropriate and
necessary services.
Ongoing research, analysis and strategic planning in relation to
this area will enable WorkCover to deliver focussed marketing
initiatives and identify areas of service delivery that can be
improved or enhanced.

Customer Focus
Customer Services Charter
The agency’s Customer Service Charter reflects WorkCover’s
current operations and delivery of services to our customers.
The charter identifies the agency’s commitment to providing high
quality, timely services to workers, employers and the community
of Western Australia. In support of this commitment, WorkCover
will:
actively consult with customers to understand their needs;
provide accurate information to customers on their rights
and responsibilities under the legislation;
provide policy advice to Government that is consistent and
based on proper analysis; and
maintain the highest ethical standards.

Customer Feedback
Feedback from customers is the most immediate and effective
way an agency can obtain information about how it is seen to be
performing. A customer feedback system forms part of the
agency’s commitment to continuously improving services to
customers and the community.
The system is intended to provide external customers with a
means to complain, compliment or make suggestions to us on
our decisions, procedures, policies or services.
In 2002/03, the Executive Director approved the agency’s
customer feedback policy and the policy is planned for
implementation for 2002/03.

Infoline Customer Survey
During 2002/03, WorkCover undertook two surveys of users of
the agency’s telephone information service, Infoline. The
purpose of the surveys was to determine whether this key
avenue for providing information to our customers is achieving its
objective of providing timely information which increased callers’
knowledge of their rights and responsibilities whilst meeting their
individual needs.
In 2002/03, WorkCover received positive feedback regarding
Infoline and education services and no negative comments were
received in writing.
This is the fourth year the survey has been conducted and the
results for 2002/03 are shown in table 9 along with those for the
past two years.

Our Customer Service Charter is available on the WorkCover
website at www.workcover.wa.gov.au. The charter also identifies
the procedure for complaints about services provided.
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3.

Information about services and programs is provided in
formats that meets the communication needs of people
with disabilities.

4.

Advice and services are delivered by staff who are
aware of and understand the needs of people with
disabilities.
Opportunities are provided for people with disabilities to
participate in public consultation, grievance mechanisms
and decision making processes.

Table 10: Customer Survey for Infoline
SURVEY QUESTIONS

% of Yes Responses
00/01

01/02

02/03

Do you know more about the workers’
compensation system as a result of the
information provided during your call to
Infoline?

84%

88%

93%

5.

Did the information provided to you
answer your query.

94%

91%

96%

During the year, the agency continued to review existing services
to ensure they meet the needs of people with disabilities.

Do you feel the time taken to respond to
your call was reasonable?

72%

90%

95%

The results for all questions in the survey show an improvement
over last year. The increase in positive answers to question one
demonstrates Infoline's continued success as a medium for
providing information to our customers. These results are used
as primary indicators of the agency’s performance.
The remaining calls which responded with a “no” were
investigated to ensure WorkCover’s services achieved the needs
of customers.

Information Sessions
In addition to the Infoline survey, WorkCover also regularly
surveys attendees at information sessions delivered to key
customer groups. The information session attendee surveys are
intended to determine the extent to which the information
provided by WorkCover meets customer needs by increasing
their knowledge of their rights and responsibilities.
This is the fourth year the survey has been conducted and 98%
of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that the
information provided to them increased their knowledge in
relation to the seminar objectives. These results are used as
primary indicators of the agency’s performance.

Disability Services Plan
Through the implementation of the agency’s disability services
plan, greater accessibility to services and facilities for our
customers with disabilities is envisaged. It is acknowledged that
better access not only benefits people with disabilities but also
their families, carers and the community in general. The agency
continues to build on access improvements as a means to
remove or limit the barriers which remain and impact on people
with disabilities.
WorkCover’s Disability Services Plan has five outcomes:
1.

Existing services are adapted to ensure they meet the
needs of people with disabilities.

2.

Access to buildings and facilities is improved.
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WorkCover provides services for hearing impaired persons by
advertising its TTY service in pamphlets, on the Internet, in the
press and via presentations. A telephone service is available to
the hearing impaired TTY (08) 9388 5537 located in the Infoline
Service facility. An audio loop is also available on 48 hours
notice.
Information can be made available in alternate formats for
people with disabilities upon request. Additionally, the majority
of WorkCover publications are produced in formats which allow
for electronic enhancement of documents for visually impaired
customers.
During 2002/03, the agency continued to review existing facilities
to ensure the needs of people with disabilities were met. The
agency upgraded its TTY service, continued development of the
internet website to allow access to information by people with a
disability.

Language and Cultural Diversity
WorkCover is committed to ensuring differing language or
cultural backgrounds are not a barrier to the provision of services
to our customers. Since the development of the Language
Services Strategy in 1992, WorkCover has addressed the needs
of its customers by ensuring:
customers are aware through WorkCover publications and
information seminars of the availability of interpreter
services and their right to use them;
where necessary WorkCover instigates the use of an
interpreter and promotes the appropriate use of providers of
accredited interpreting services; and
service providers are aware of and encouraged to use
interpreter services on behalf of their clients.
As part of its commitment to providing information in a variety of
languages, WorkCover has developed publications in Chinese
and Malay. These have been published on WorkCover's website
in the publications section. There are two brochures outlining
the scheme for employers and workers and a third explaining the
dispute resolution process. During 2002/03 interpreter services
were primarily used at the Conciliation and Review Directorate
and counter enquiries. In total, interpreters were utilised on 369
occasions, with an increasing trend in the need for interpreters
by our customers.

WorkCover Western Australia
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Youth
Regional Services
WorkCover is committed to providing services to regional
communities. Activities undertaken to support this commitment
during 2002/03 include:
Promoting our 1800 freecall number for regional customers
via brochures, the internet, advertising and presentations.
Providing WorkCover publications to Department of
Consumer and Employment Protection regional offices for
dissemination in the regions.
Conducting a number of regional based presentations at
the request of stakeholders and service providers in the
scheme. Seminars and courses were held at locations
such as Leonora, Kalgoorlie and Bunbury.
Undertaking two regional compliance trips in the Geraldton
and South West region of the State. These trips ensured a
presence for WorkCover in the regional area and made
employers and other parties aware of their rights and
obligations under the Act as well as improving our regional
customers’ understanding of the scheme.
Convening four review hearings at country locations by the
Conciliation and Review Directorate.
Conciliation
conferences involving country workers are usually
convened via telephone conference, but in appropriate
cases review officers conduct hearings in country locations.
Review officers have also used video conferencing where
evidence has been taken from people outside Western
Australia.

WorkCover recognises the needs of young people. Products
and services delivered by WorkCover are available to all
customer groups including young people.
The Workers’ Compensation Statistical Report includes analysis
of claims by young workers, examines trends in workers'
compensation lodged by young workers that result in time off
work. A copy of this report is available under the Publications
section of our website at www.workcover.wa.gov.au .
During 2002/03, the agency also conducted a presentation at
Curtin University on workers’ compensation and, when
requested, disseminated information material to secondary
schools. The agency strongly promotes to schools the use of the
Online Campus, an interactive, self-paced learning facility that
provides information on workers’ compensation, injury
management and related topics.

Indian Ocean Territories
WorkCover has a Service Delivery Agreement with the
Commonwealth Department of Transport and Regional Services
in relation to Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands. During
2002/03, WorkCover provided services including the regulation
of the workers’ compensation scheme to ensure an appropriate
level of service delivery by scheme service providers and
appropriate workers’ compensation scheme outcomes. Activities
undertaken during 2002/03 include:
The monitoring of Noise Induced Hearing Loss approved
audiometric testers in the Indian Ocean Territories. As a
result of monitoring one tester had their approval cancelled.
Another tester underwent a written and practical
examination to regain their audiometric officer approval.
A compliance visit to the Indian Ocean Territories to
conduct inspections and provide information on rights and
obligations under the legislation was completed. Over one
hundred employers were visited as part of the field
inspection program undertaken.
Registration of three Memorandums of Agreements.
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Strategic Policy and Planning
This section includes information on the strategic policy and planning activities of:
• Policy
• Legislation
• Research Projects
• National Committees
Key Achievements for 2002/03
Provided policy advice and prepared drafting instructions in
relation to the Workers’ Compensation Reform Bill 2003.
Prepared the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Acts of Terrorism) Amendment Act 2002.
Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Acts of Terrorism) (Final Day) Regulations 2002.
Gazetted the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund
Amendment Regulations 2003 to reduce the surcharge
employers are required to pay for the purpose of the
Supplementation Fund.
Provided policy advice and drafting instructions in relation
to the Prostitution Control Bill 2002.

Policy
The provision of policy advice is a major activity of the agency.
This includes research, development and review to provide
strategic policy advice to the Commission and Government.
Reports and briefings on workers’ compensation policy issues
are provided at agency, State and National levels. Ministerial
requirements relating to policy and legislative change as well as
ministerial speeches, briefings, Cabinet minutes and
correspondence and media are co-ordinated via this function.

Assisted in the preparation of amendments to regulations to
support the Acts Amendment (Equality of Status) Act 2002.

Legislation

Gazetted the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations 2003 to adjust
the fees paid for speech therapists and osteopaths.

The legislation activities of the agency assist in the facilitation of
drafting legislation in support of the Western Australian workers’
compensation system. In October 2002, the Government
released a position paper outlining reforms to the workers’
compensation system. The proposed changes were the result of
an extensive consultation process and reflect measures required
to establish a transparent system that provides improved levels
of support and compensation to injured workers while providing
stable and cost efficient insurance protection for employers. The
agency provided policy advice and drafting instructions in
relation to the Workers’ Compensation Reform Bill 2003 to
implement the Government’s policy on workers’ compensation.

Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2003 to
adjust the scales of fees paid to physiotherapists.
Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
(Scales of Fees) Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2003 to
adjust the scales of fees paid to clinical psychologists.
Gazetted the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Amendment Regulations 2003 to adjust the minimum
contribution payable by self insurers.
Participated in national forums and projects including the
Comparative Performance Monitoring Report for the
Workplace Relations Ministers’ Council and the
development of amendments to State and Territory
legislation concerning coverage of workers employed
temporarily in another jurisdiction.
Completed various research projects and reports including
time delay to claim lodgement, occupational stress and long
duration claims.
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Updated the Workers’ Compensation Statistical Report
1998/99 – 2001/02 and the Long Duration Workers’
Compensation Claims Statistical Report 1996/97 –
2000/01.

The Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation (Acts of
Terrorism) Amendment Act 2002 was prepared and the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation (Acts of Terrorism) (Final Day)
Regulations 2002 were gazetted. The amending legislation
enabled the existing sunset clause to be extended and set
through the supporting regulations. The final day is now 31
December 2004. This was required as the Federal Government
had not yet developed a National compensation scheme to cover
terrorist acts.
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National Committees
WorkCover assisted in the preparation of regulations to support
the Acts Amendment (Equality of Status) Act 2002 and provided
policy advice and prepared drafting instructions in relation to the
Prostitution Control Bill 2003.
In conjunction with other jurisdictions WorkCover continues to
assist in developing and refining policy, legislative and technical
issues as part of its participation on national workers’
compensation Committees. This included the preparation of
workers’ compensation cross border legislation that can be
enacted by all States and Territories. It is envisaged appropriate
legislation will be enacted during the 2004/05 financial year.

Research Projects
Other activities of the agency include data analysis and
publication of statistical reports, management of internal and
external research projects. In 2002/03, a Time Delay to Claim
Lodgement Research Project was undertaken which identified
several contributory factors to delays in claim lodgement.
Differences between industry divisions in claims with delays in
lodgement were due to differences in the risk of certain types of
injuries and a function of the market share/involvement insurers
had with different industry groups. The research also identified
that delay in claim lodgement resulted in significant increases in
average claim costs and that substantial savings could be made
within the system by promoting the early reporting of claims.
The Occupational Stress Research Project (Centre for Human
Services at Griffith University in Queensland) was successfully
completed in 2002/03. The purpose of the research was to
examine the barriers and success factors that are experienced
by each of the key stakeholders (i.e., insurers, employers,
rehabilitation counsellors, claimants, legal representatives). Four
main reports were completed which included a review of factors
influencing occupational stress occurrence and effective
management, as well as a qualitative investigation of effective
injury management.
In June 2003, the first stage of the Long Duration Claims
Research Project (Pilot Study) was successfully completed. The
aim of the overall project is to investigate the nature of long
duration claims in the Western Australia workers’ compensation
system. This includes determining whether factors such as, but
not limited to claimant demographics, type of injury, method of
referral, delays in referral, treatment, delays in liability
acceptance, surveillance and litigation contribute to the length of
claims.
The Workers’ Compensation Statistical Report 1998/99 –
2001/02 and the Long Duration Workers’ Compensation Claims
Statistical Report 1996/97 – 2000/01 were both undertaken
during the 2002/03 financial year. These reports provide
valuable information on workers’ compensation claims in
Western Australia.
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During the year, WorkCover participated on various State and
National workers’ compensation committees. Statistical and
technical information was provided for the following projects:
The Workplace Relations Ministers’ Council produces a
report entitled Comparative Performance Monitoring
Report, which compares trends in workers’ compensation
and occupational health and safety across Australian
jurisdictions and New Zealand. WorkCover continued to
refine the methodology to improve the comparability of
schemes.
Participation in the Heads of Workers’ Compensation
Authorities (formerly Heads of Workplace Safety and
Compensation Authorities) national consistency projects
relating to workers’ compensation and injury management
including mutual recognition of workers employed
temporarily in another workers’ compensation jurisdiction.
Productivity Commission Inquiry into National Workers’
Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety
Frameworks.

Planned Activities for 2003/04
Finalise the Workers’ Compensation Reform Bill 2003.
Develop an impairment assessment guide.
Finalise technical issues in relation to the implementation of
amendments to State and Territory legislation concerning
coverage of workers employed temporarily in another
jurisdiction.
Undertake further research into the Time Delay to Claim
Lodgement Research Project, focusing on a questionnaire
of employers and employees to try and determine what
intrinsic factors may be contributing to delays in claim
lodgement.
Implement the second stage of the Long Duration Claims
Research Project. This will involve accessing up to 600
additional long duration claims files from approved insurers
and analysing the resulting database.
Disseminate the results of the Occupational Stress
Research Project to user groups.
Develop a suitable set of scheme health indicators for
Western Australia to identify how the scheme is changing
over time, whether recent policy changes have been
effective, and whether individual insurers perform against
agreed benchmarks.
Release a series of Research Notes for use by
stakeholders, based on information contained within major
reports (such as the Annual Statistical Report).
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Operations and Support
This section includes information on the operations and support activities of:
• Information and Education
• Regulation
• Corporate Services

Information and Education

Information

Highlights for 2002/03

The information service (Infoline) provides responses to
enquiries on all aspects of the workers’ compensation and
rehabilitation system. Enquiries are received by telephone,
written correspondence, the internet and counter enquiries. The
frequency of enquiries emailed to WorkCover remained
significant.

Developed a targeted educational strategy for 2002 to 2005
to ensure education and information programmes are
delivered to stakeholders efficiently and effectively.
Responded to 22,046 telephone enquiries.
Delivered information and training seminars addressing
workers’ compensation and injury management matters to
1,645 stakeholders and service provider representatives.
Prepared responses to 378 written requests for information.
Responded to 323 counter enquiries which is an increase
on 2001/02.
Developed a new strategy for Injury Management Week,
with a “Partnerships in Injury Management Conference”
programmed for August 2003.
Continued general practitioner education sessions with the
Western Australian Divisions of General Practice.
Revised and developed a range of publications for the
dissemination of information and education to scheme
participants. Also a new range of corporate promotional
materials was created and is used in conjunction with
educational strategies to increase community access to
WorkCover.

Information and education is provided to workers’ compensation
scheme participants and the general community, to increase
their knowledge of their rights and responsibilities with respect to
the scheme, workers’ compensation legislation and injury
management processes. Information and education strategies
aim to assist with minimizing the social and economic impact of
work related injuries.

In total, the agency responded to 22,046 telephone enquiries
during 2002/03. Of this total, Infoline responded to 19,260
telephone public enquiries during the year on questions about
workers’ compensation claims procedure and claims difficulties,
definition of "worker" and "wages", injury management and
vocational rehabilitation, the dispute resolution process, premium
rates and lump sum entitlements. While, 2,786 noise induced
hearing loss telephone enquiries were received by the agency
from workers, employers, legal representatives, testers and other
parties. There were no significant issues that arose in 2002/03
in relation to workers’ compensation and this is reflected in the
reduction of telephone calls.
During the year, a total of 3,144 individuals and businesses
made requests for brochures containing information on the
workers’ compensation system. A total of 378 written enquiries
were answered during the year and ranged from simple requests
for brochures to complex enquiries concerning the progress
and/or outcome of the correspondent’s workers’ compensation
claim.
WorkCover also attended to 323 counter enquiries during the
year which included provision of information specific to the
individual’s needs and general information on the workers’
compensation and rehabilitation system. This service is of
particular assistance to those workers unable to attend the
information seminars provided by WorkCover, who require
information urgently or who require the assistance of interpreter
services.
WorkCover’s website provides customers with access to a range
of information and the popularity of this source of information
continues to increase. A total of 151,779 user sessions were
recorded on the website.
During 2002/03, the operational hours of the Infoline remained
from 8:00am to 5:00 pm. WorkCover upgraded its TTY service
for the hearing impaired and maintained a 1800 telephone
number for regional callers.
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In 2002/03 a review of the resourcing of WorkCover’s Infoline
resulted in additional responsibilities to support the education
and training function. The restructure corresponded with a
change in the referral system for seminars for injured workers
and the implementation of a referral system for seminars for
employers.
During the year, a new concept for promotional material resulted
in the creation of new merchandising and promotional equipment
to increase the profile of WorkCover and improve awareness of
our services. A demographic survey, based on historic claims
data of injured workers and their accident location, was
undertaken to identify the requirements for future educational
activities. This will ensure future programmes are appropriately
targeted towards the direct needs of injured workers and
employers.

Education
Provision of information and education to injured workers,
employers, insurers, and medical and allied health professionals
continued to be a priority for WorkCover. As a result of projects
completed in 2002/03 that identified the information needs of
stakeholders and scheme participants, an Education Strategy
was developed to cover the period 2002 to 2005. Training and
information sessions continued to be provided to scheme
participants with a particular emphasis on injured workers,
employers and medical professionals.
The major planned activities for this financial year were
completed with positive feedback provided via evaluations. This
included the revision and implementation of all WorkCover’s
regular seminars and training courses.
Stakeholder Education Programs
The delivery of a total of 82 information seminars and training
programs addressing workers’ compensation legislation, injury
management and vocational rehabilitation to:
377 injured workers;
592 employers, supervisors and managers;
121 employer based injury management coordinators;
150 medical practitioners, medical students and support
staff;
112 service providers; and
294 participants representing professional associations,
students and mixed groups.
In addition to the above training, WorkCover continues to provide
training in the legislative requirements of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981, for potential
Audiometric Officers as part of the Australian Hearing Services
Audiometric Officers course. WorkCover has also played a
greater role in supervising the practical sessions of the course.
During 2002/03, 11 training sessions were undertaken, with 99
participants.
In total, 1,645 participants attended 93 training sessions
provided by WorkCover.
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WorkCover also continued to assist organisations, such as the
Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia (CCI),
the Industrial Foundation for Accident Prevention (IFAP), the
Australian Mines and Metals Association (AMMA), and the
Australian Medical Association (WA Branch) (AMA), and the
Department of General Practice at the University of Western
Australia (UWA) in the delivery of regular occupational safety
and health and workers’ compensation training initiatives.
In addition to the regularly scheduled sessions, WorkCover
developed and delivered 11 individually tailored seminars and
training sessions at the request of organisations to educate their
staff on the workers’ compensation system and injury
management processes. Several of these companies requested
multiple sessions to meet the demands of their workforce. The
sessions were held in both the metropolitan and regional areas
including Leonora, Kalgoorlie and Bunbury.
The WorkCover On-line Campus continues to be utilised for
training purposes. During 2002/03 WorkCover’s On-Line
Campus registered 697 new students. A detailed review of the
campus was conducted in 2002/03 with recommendations for
improvements and expansion scheduled to be made in the next
financial year. WorkCover’s website is maintained to ensure
ongoing dissemination of information related to workers’
compensation and injury management topics.
A major review of WorkCover’s publications was undertaken in
2002/03 to ensure they provide information that meet the needs
of our stakeholders. As a result, a new strategy was developed
for WorkCover publications that resulted in upgrading of the
majority of existing information brochures and the introduction of
comprehensive publications specifically directed at injured
workers and employers. These include:
The DL brochure entitled “Workers’ Compensation and
Injury Management: Important Information for Workers”;
The A4 booklet entitled “Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management: A Guide for Workers”;
The DL brochure entitled “Workers’ Compensation and
Injury Management: Important Information for Employers”;
The A4 booklet entitled “Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management: A Guide for Employers”;
The DL brochure entitled “A Guide to Resolving Disputes:
Important Information about the Conciliation and Review
Directorate”; and
The DL brochure entitled “A Guide to Noise Induced
Hearing Loss Legislation”.
GP Education
Throughout 2002/03, WorkCover worked in cooperation with key
parties to deliver educational initiatives to provide medical
practitioners with information on the legislation and injury
management processes. A total of 13 medical practitioners
attended an evening dinner seminar, 47 registrars were trained
as part of WorkCover’s involvement in UWA’s Department of
General Practice training program, and information was provided
to 47 junior doctors at the Medical Careers Expo 2003.
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Prevention Activities
WorkCover continued to offer individual practice visits to provide
information on the legislation and injury management processes
to medical practitioners. These visits included one-on-one
meetings or group presentations with a total of 20 practice visits
being conducted during the financial year.
Guidance Notes and a Quick Reference Guide, which provide
information for medical practitioners operating in the Western
Australian workers' compensation scheme, were developed by a
working party convened by WorkCover. The working party
included representatives of the Australian Medical Association
(WA), The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, the
General Practice Divisions of WA, the Australasian Faculty of
Occupational Medicine and WorkCover.
The new publication “Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management in WA: Guidance Notes for Medical Practitioners”
will be launched at the Partnerships in Injury Management
Conference to be held on 7-8 August 2003.
Community Education Programs
Partnerships in Injury Management Conference
A detailed review of WorkCover’s annual event, Injury
Management Week, was conducted during 2002/03. This
resulted in the development of a new initiative the “Partnerships
in Injury Management Conference 2003” to be held in August
2003. Significant planning and development has occurred in
relation to the new concept and leading experts within the
industry will provide presentations on issues that include:
Current and emerging issues regarding workers’
compensation and injury management;
Occupational well being and performance;
Strategic human resource management;
The clinical aspects of injury;
Medical perspectives on communication with the
workplace; and
The integration of occupational health and safety and injury
management systems
Promotional Activities
Advertising for this financial year focused on promoting
WorkCover’s Infoline to ensure workers and employers alike
have access to objective information.
Specific industries targeted using advertising this year included
the construction and building industries. Advertisements were
published in the MBA occupational Health and Safety Calendar,
Farm Weekly, WA Resource Development Services Directory,
Construction Industry Annual Review, The West Australian
Newspaper and the Busselton Margaret River Times.
Total circulation from these publications is estimated at
1,200,396. While there was a decrease in the number of
advertisements placed in this financial year, there was a 56%
increase in the circulation numbers.
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ThinkSafe Campaign
During 2002/03, the Commission jointly funded the ThinkSafe
Campaign with the WorkSafe Division of the Department of
Consumer and Employment Protection.
The ThinkSafe
Campaign is a community education campaign developed by the
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, WorkSafe
Division, and WorkCover Western Australia.
The campaign successfully raised the awareness of safety and
health in the workplace by promoting it as an issue for
community concern. Ultimately, the campaign is designed to
reduce workplace related injury and disease in Western
Australian workplaces.
During 2002/03 the campaign continued to encourage the
practical implementation of hazard management in high-risk
workplaces to reduce workplace fatalities, injuries and disease,
in particular those related to priority areas. WorkSafe’s priority
areas for reducing workplace injuries and disease were:
Chemicals and harmful substances
Electricity
Manual handling – lifting
New and young workers
Slips and trips
Working at heights.
The objective of the 2002/03 campaign was to motivate
employers and other decision-makers who can influence
occupational safety and health in the workplace to actively
manage priority hazards in their workplaces. The primary target
audience for the 2002/03 campaign was employers, workplace
safety and health decision-makers and anyone who has control
over small to medium sized businesses in a high-risk industry.
The secondary target audience was employees, families of
employers and employees, inspectors/other occupational safety
and health professionals and the general community including
young people. The campaign targeted five specific industry
sectors, that being health (in particular aged care), agriculture,
construction, retail and transport.
It was envisaged the 2002/03 campaign would:
change the perceptions of employers and decision makers
as to the likelihood of accidents/incidents occurring in their
workplace and the possible consequences associated with
not managing hazards in their workplace – i.e.
accidents/incidents can happen in your workplace and
employees may be injured;
motivate employers and decision-makers to consult and
involve employees in decisions about workplace safety and
health and to then take action to improve safety and health
in their workplace by actively managing hazards in
WorkSafe’s priority areas; and
increase the level of knowledge about the role of WorkSafe
and occupational safety and health legislative
requirements.
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The campaign targeted both metropolitan and non-metropolitan
areas through state wide television advertising, supported by
radio advertising, information products, direct mail out,
WorkSafe’s website , a 1800 Hazard hotline and media and
public relations activities.
WorkSafe 2003 Forums
On May 14, 15 and 30 2003, WorkCover participated and
provided a proportion of the funding for the WorkSafe 2003
Forums held in Kalgoorlie, Bunbury and Perth. The forums
provided the latest information on occupational, safety and
health issues, and discussed strategies and the challenges to be
faced in the future. The conference was targeted at managers
and supervisors, safety and health representatives, safety
officers, safety professionals and interested members of the
community.
The conferences featured a wide range of speakers with
expertise in a variety of occupational safety and health topics
including representatives from WorkCover.

Planned Activities for 2003/04
Evaluate the current services offered to the stakeholders
and identify ongoing information needs of stakeholders,
including the timeliness and effectiveness of information
provided. This will assist the agency to deliver improved
services to meet the specific needs of stakeholders in the
system.
Continue to provide the current education/information
seminars and increase the number of attendees at these
sessions via new referral methodologies.
Continue to provide general practitioner education involving
the general practitioner guide and information seminars.
This will also include education sessions with the Divisions
of General Practice and other key bodies to including
regional Western Australia.
Launch and disseminate the new publication for Medical
Practitioners.
Develop a comprehensive education/information strategy
for WorkCover, including the dissemination of new
publications, website redevelopment and exploration of
multi-media technologies for education.
Implement educational strategies targeted at specific
industries with high claims and long duration costs.
Develop targeted educational programmes using spatial
data.
Review the structure and resourcing of the Infoline service
to ensure the information needs of stakeholders are
achieved.
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Regulation
Highlights for 2002/03
Completed inspections of all businesses in the Midland and
Wangara areas as part of the ongoing locality inspection
program.
Maintained the ongoing liaison with the Department of
Consumer and Employment Protection to monitor new
business registrations.
Completed two priority initiatives with the assistance of the
Master Builders Association to identify potential uninsured
employers in the industry and Insurance Commission of
WA to identify private contractors in the public sector.
Completed two regional inspection visits to Geraldton and
the South West region of the State and an inspection visit
to Cocos and Christmas Islands.
Undertook 27,891 inspections and prosecuted 8 employers
for failing to hold current a workers’ compensation policy.
Evaluated eleven approved insurers performance against
the requirements of the Act and the Performance
Monitoring Guidelines and the performance of 27 approved
self insurers which had their licence renewed.
Approved the application of two new group employers for
self insurance status.
Approved 29 applications to load in excess of 100% of the
recommended premium rate and denied 2 applications.
Introduced benchmarks into the annual review process for
vocational rehabilitation providers.
Reviewed approved agency and single vocational
rehabilitation providers by way of an annual review.
Developed a comprehensive information package to assist
Otorhinolaryngologists in making Occupational Noise
Induced Hearing Loss determinations for WorkCover
purposes.

Compliance
The compliance activity involves inspection and investigation to
ensure employers comply with the workers’ compensation
legislation and to prosecute employers and other parties where
necessary.
Inspection
WorkCover’s compliance activities were focused on contacting
businesses that are potentially in breach of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.

43

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

During the year the compliance program implemented initiatives
to identify non-compliant employers and targeted industries to
address compliance concerns through various inspection
activities to identify employers. These being:
New business inspections;
Targeted business inspections;
Regional inspections (Geraldton and the South West of
WA);
Geographical inspections (metropolitan);
Lapsed policy inspections;
Processing of cancellations; and
Locality inspections (Midland and Wangara).
The monitoring of new business registrations with the assistance
of the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection has
resulted in a successful inspection program which enables
identification of new employers who are in business. WorkCover
inspectors advise these employers and potential employers of
their obligations to hold current a workers’ compensation policy
of insurance and ensure compliance where necessary.
The priority initiatives undertaken with the assistance of the
Master Builders Association and Insurance Commission of WA
to identify potential uninsured employers has been successful.
The Master Builders Association now provide all new members
with information that outlines the workers’ compensation
obligations of potential employers in the building industry. As an
outcome of the initiative involving private contractors in the
Public Sector a three page article was included in the June 2003
issue of the Government Risk Management publication.
During 2002/03, a total of 27,891 inspections were undertaken.
Of these 15,415 related to lapsed workers’ compensation
policies. New business and field inspections accounted for
12,476. These inspection activities identified 178 businesses
failing to maintain a current workers’ compensation policy of
insurance.
Also during 2002/03, 138 file investigations and 2,569 requests
from insurers to cancel an employer’s workers’ compensation
policy of insurance were processed with 62 of these being
processed by inspectors in the field.
Prosecution
The compliance program is primarily focused on business
proprietors who are potentially in breach of the provisions of the
Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. In 2002/03,
8 employers were prosecuted for failing to hold current a
workers’ compensation policy of insurance. Total fines awarded
during the year amounted to $12,700 and a further $20,588 in
avoided premiums was ordered to be reimbursed to the General
Fund. Five prosecutions are ongoing and will be carried over the
next financial year.
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Accreditation and Licensing
The accreditation and licensing activity involves the monitoring of
the performance of insurers, self insurers, approved vocational
rehabilitation providers and air conduction testers (and the
equipment used) to ensure compliance with workers’
compensation legislation and the delivery of an appropriate
standard of service.
During 2002/03 insurer outcome based performance indicators,
developed in consultation with an industry-wide working party,
were finalised.
The performance indicators have been
incorporated into the Performance Monitoring Methodology for
Approved Insurers 2003 (Guidelines) to assess approved insurer
performance on an annual basis. Briefing sessions on the
introduction of these Guidelines for 2003/04 were attended by 46
representatives of all approved insurers.
The Commission reviewed the performance of 11 approved
insurers (including the Insurance Commission of Western
Australia) and recommended that all the underwriting licences be
maintained. As required by section 165 of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981, the performance of
27 self insurers were reviewed. Twenty-five self insurers had
their approval extended for a further 12 months. Two self
insurers had their reviews deferred due to data issues and the
receipt of further information. Upon receipt of the required
information the self insurers’ approval were extended for a
further 12 months. The Commission approved the application of
two new group employers for self insurance status.
Under Section 152 of the Act, there were 31 applications by
approved insurers to load the recommended premium rate by
more than 100% considered during 2002/03. Of the 31
applications, two were declined. Under Section 154 of the Act,
two employers appealed their industry classification but were
denied by the Commission on the basis that they were
appropriately classified. One application was received under
Section 154 with respect to the amount of premium assessed
and the Premium Rates Committee declined this application.
During 2002/03, 45 approved vocational rehabilitation providers
were accredited, which comprised of 20 agency providers, 14
single providers and 11 employer based providers. The
Accreditation and Monitoring Advisory Committee was involved
in the development of parameters for benchmarking the
performance of approved vocational rehabilitation providers and
these were incorporated in the October 2002 review of approved
agency and single providers.
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From data available as at 1 July 2003, for the period from 1 July
2002 to 30 June 2003, the following information is available:
In the 2002/03 financial year, 3,044 referrals were made for
vocational rehabilitation services, 88% to agency providers,
10% to single providers and 2% to employer based
providers.
Medical practitioners were responsible for 29% of all
referrals, and employers referred 31%. Insurers authorised
to act on an employers behalf referred 40%.
Agency and single providers closed 3,229 cases, with a
57.6% return to work rate. Employer based providers
closed 67 cases, and 79.1% of these cases were returned
to work.
The number of audiometric testers fluctuated during the year as
a result of performance evaluations and accreditation of new
testers into the system. At 30 June 2003, there were 200
approved audiometric officers and 48 audiologists in the system.
During the year audiologists were included in performance
monitoring and compliance activities. A total of 63 new testers
were approved and 85 testers cancelled as a result of not
meeting performance criteria. There are currently 193 booths
and 175 audiometers approved within the system.
A total of 296 workers were identified as showing a 10% or
greater increase in Percentage Loss of Hearing (PLH) following
comparison of their baseline and subsequent hearing tests. Fifty
seven had claims finalised by a Memorandum of Agreement
Notification issued by the WorkCover Conciliation and Review
Directorate.

Planned Activities for 2003/04
Conduct regional inspection visits to Bunbury and the
Wheatbelt region.
Continue a targeted industry inspection program to cover
selected industries.
Introduce a streamlined recording system for uninsured
employers.
Develop a new reporting process with the Conciliation and
Review Directorate for claims on the General Fund.
Continue to review work process of Compliance Officers in
the field.
Assess approved insurer performance against the
Guidelines and continuously review the effectiveness of the
Guidelines.
Introduce outcome based performance indicators for self
insurers (based on the approved insurer Guidelines).

Conduct the annual review of approved agency and single
vocational rehabilitation providers.
Continue the monitoring, assessment and review of
vocational rehabilitation provider performance against the
Quality Assurance Standards and benchmarks, with six
monthly reports to the Commission.
Refine and review the benchmarks to ensure the delivery of
an appropriate level of service by providers.
Increase onsite auditing of noise induced hearing loss
testers and continue workplace visits to explain the rights
and obligations of employers and workers to facilitate
compliance.
Disseminate information to increase knowledge of the noise
induced hearing loss provisions of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act, 1981 in the
workforce.

Corporate Services
The corporate services activity of the agency supports
operational areas and ensures human, financial and other
resources are used efficiently and effectively to provide services
responsive to the needs of employees and stakeholders.

Highlights for 2002/03
Implemented the insurer/self insurer electronic data
specification Q1, including the modification of WorkCover’s
information systems to provide for the capture, search and
maintenance of Q1 data collection; and provided internet
Training in the use of the Insurer On-line application
provided for those insurers and self insurers in production
with Q1 was also conducted.
Enhanced the Insurer On-line application to provide the
facility to lookup and download either a complete copy of
WorkCover's service provider and service code reference
file, or an update file and data entry of missing information
in regards to the worker’s occurrence details.
Implemented the internal ministerial online system.
Completed of the registration of liquidated workers’
compensation records.
Reviewed and updated all agency information management
policies.
Completed the registration of strategic planning and
corporate information library resources in Records
Management System.
Conducted disposal of a large number redundant records in
accordance with agency’s approved retention and disposal
schedule.
Developed WorkCover’s business continuity plan.
Developed WorkCover’s policy on customer feedback,
including compliments, complaints and suggestions.
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Corporate Planning & Support Services
The corporate planning function is responsible for the
development, management and consultancy services on
corporate management strategies of the agency. An important
role of the function is to coordinate annual statutory reporting
activities which include annual report and performance indicator
report. It is also responsible for operational review, corporate
performance evaluation and reporting. Operational review is a
function that was established this year to ensure continuous
improvement in the agency.
The corporate support services activity provides administrative
support role to the Commission, Advisory Committees, the
Premium Rates Committee and the Industrial Diseases Medical
Panel. Internal working groups are also supported under this
function.
A customer feedback system was developed to handle
customers' compliments, complaints and suggestions on the
agency. The Executive Director has approved for the system to
be implemented in 2003/04.
To reflect WorkCover's commitment to the maintenance of
effective services to the community, a Business Continuity Plan
was developed to respond effectively to critical incidents that
may affect the agency's business continuity. The plan includes
essential aspects of risk management, crisis response, disaster
recovery and emergency planning. It is scheduled to be
implemented in 2003/04.

Information Technology and
Telecommunications
Online Services
During the year there was ongoing review and enhancement of
the WorkCover internet site to ensure relevant information was
accessible to customers. The year saw further enhancements to
WorkCover’s interactive facilities, which allow service providers
to undertake online data transactions. Transactions with service
providers occur in a secure online environment via applications
for insurer and self insurer data, approved vocational
rehabilitation data and noise induced hearing loss data. The
enhancements allow for faster transacting of business and
improved service delivery.
During the year our technological resources continued to be
focused on the implementation of the new data specification Q1. This application is designed to capture claims and policy
information provided by insurers and self insurers. Q1 is a new
era for data capture at WorkCover and will assist the agency in
monitoring the ongoing trends in the workers’ compensation
scheme.
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Scheme Information
The scheme information activity has a primary role in data
collection and quality assurance. Data collection activities
included claims and policy data, monitoring of lapsed policies,
data capture and administration of premium rating returns.
During the year the new data specification was implemented;
insurer and self insurer internet training was provided; the
information system and process for lapsed policies was
enhanced and the premium rating returns and the audit process
was administered. Internet training for officers responsible for
the creation and maintenance of the on-line accounts, potential
new approved audiometric officers, and new vocational
rehabilitation providers continued on a regular basis.

Technical and Information Services
The technical services activity has responsibility for computing
infrastructure, computing hardware, applications development,
maintenance and data administration and application systems
within WorkCover. This year has been marked by the successful
implementation of Q1 and the uptake of Microsoft Active
Directory.
Also during 2002/03, WorkCover implemented a Storage Area
Network (SAN) to cater for increased data storage demands
brought about by Q1 specifications and upgraded the Network
Operating Systems (NOS) to Windows 2000 Active Directory.
Active Directory functionality provides for less intrusive
application upgrades, and software patches, along with better
integration with existing databases.
A centralized data backup system was implemented; high speed
broadband internet access was set up for the Commission and
laptop computers replaced. WorkCover email systems were
upgraded to Microsoft Exchange 2000.
The outlook for 2003/04 will see the post-implementation review
of Q1; reviews of applications systems and their documentation
and a review of internet security for online applications.

Finance, Investments and Asset
Management
The finance, investments and asset management activity
provides financial and accounting services which support the
agency’s program objectives and manages assets and
procurement policies and practices in line with Government
requirements to ensure best value for money.
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Asset Management
Risk Management - Treasurer’s Instruction 109

Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund

WorkCover maintains and periodically reviews the processes,
guidelines and documentation used in the purchasing and
contract management functions. During 2002/03 maintenance
contracts were reviewed to ensure effective management of
asset maintenance.

The Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund was
established under the provisions of the Employers’ Indemnity
Supplementation Fund Act 1980 and exists to guard against the
collapse of an insurer. Due to the collapse of HIH insurance in
March 2001, a 5% surcharge on employers’ indemnity policies
was introduced on 25 June 2001. Subsequently, by Regulation in
June 2002 the surcharge reduced to 3% then 1% in June 2003.

Debtors
As at 30 June 2003, there were 19 outstanding debtors resulting
from fines and penalties awarded under section 170 of the Act.
Debts worth $5,357.40 were written-off during the year and
$63,471.91 remained outstanding.

Funds Management
Trust Fund
The Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Trust Fund is
maintained in accordance with section 110 of the Worker’s
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. The agency seeks
to maximise returns and security of funds invested for the benefit
of the dependants of deceased workers.
Section 84F empowers the Conciliation and Review Directorate
to order compensation to be paid in trust to WorkCover when it
cannot immediately be paid to a person under a legal disability,
or which is payable to dependants of a deceased worker. These
funds are invested in accordance with Treasurer’s guidelines
Investment strategies employed provided an average yield for
the year of 4.80% for all trust accounts. This is a favourable rate
of return compared to returns offered by other financial
institutions.
Uninsured Claims Management (General Fund)
The agency manages specific funds for the protection of workers
from failures in the scheme. The agency provides protection for
injured workers by providing a source of compensation for
workers of uninsured employers pursuant to section 174; to
recover from uninsured employers funds paid to workers from
the General Fund; and to provide evidence to the Conciliation
and Review Directorate which enables them to verify a worker’s
entitlement to compensation.
As part of its operations, the compliance activity establishes the
employer’s insurance status to ensure that monies released from
the General Fund are in accordance with the provisions of the
Worker’s Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. This year
the compliance activity investigated 36 claims made on the Fund
pursuant to section 174, compared to 20 last year. There were
14 new claims from the fund this year and 17 continuing claims
from previous financial years. Cost of new claims is $272,039
and for ongoing claims the amount is $364,514. On the 30 June
2003, the total outstanding debt being recovered through the
courts from uninsured employers is approximately $1,144,000.
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In relation to the liquidation of HIH Insurance, outstanding claims
in Western Australia are estimated at $31.7 million as at 30 June
2003. This represents projected outstanding liabilities that are
inflated and discounted values, claim administration expenses
and a prudential margin.
The Employers’ Indemnity
Supplementation Fund also paid claims under the Waterfront
Workers’ (Compensation for Asbestos Related Disease) Act.
Payments for claims amounted to $83,139 and there were no
receipts for the year. In total $2.4 million has been paid for
claims under the Act.
No dividend was paid by the United Kingdom liquidator for
National Employers’ Mutual Insurance Company, in liquidation.
Funds recovered to date are $1.98 million and payments to date
exceed $4.59 million.
Claims payments and receipts during the year for those insurers
in liquidation were as follows:
Insurers

Payments

Receipts

Palmdale\AGCI Insurance Co.

$11,811

-

National Employers’ Mutual Insurance
Co.

$12,114

-

Standard Insurance Co

$5,216

-

$9,978,320

-

HIH Insurance

Corporate Information
The corporate information activity is responsible for the
management of the agency’s information resource, including
agency records and library materials.
At the commencement of the 2002/03 financial year the online
ministerial system was implemented. The new system enables
staff to view, monitor and respond to allocated ministerials
online. The system also provides a facility for identifying related
ministerial correspondence and statistical information relevant to
performance monitoring.
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During the 2002/03 year, corporate information also completed
the indexing of the agency’s liquidated insurer records. This now
enables the agency to readily access catalogued liquidated
insurer records as required. The registration of the agency’s
library resource material was also completed. This now enables
resources to be located via the records management system.
The full operation of the resource libraries will be implemented
during the next financial year when online access to searching
resources will be provided to staff via the agency’s intranet.
The agency’s information management policies were reviewed
early in the financial year. An updated information management
policy replaced the agency’s computing usage policy (first issued
in May 1997) and associated policies.
Corporate information relocated and organised a large
percentage of the agency’s inactive records. During this process
a large number of redundant records were disposed of in
accordance with the agency’s approved retention and disposal
schedule.

Planned Activities for 2003/04
Implement and test the agency’s business continuity plan.
Develop and implement incident management policy and
procedures.
Develop and implement procedures and guidelines to
support the agency’s customer feedback policy.
Conduct continuous improvement exercises for operational
areas.
Review the agency’s disability services plan.
Review the agency’s customer services charter.
Review of the implementation of Q1.
Review of the technical documentation relating to all
applications systems.
Investigation into the use of .Net technology.
Consolidate the agency’s databases and database servers.

Human Resources

Replace all Shenton Park workstations.
Replace production database servers.

The human resource activity has the responsibility to facilitate
the application of public sector human resource practices,
procedures and policies by the management and staff of
WorkCover, in achieving agency goals and objectives.
This activity also ensures compliance with statutory, legal and
other authorised work practices; provides for a discrimination
free work environment; provides effective staff management and
the establishment of classification procedures; and ensures the
WorkCover performance management system continues to:
provide constructive feedback on work performance;
assist in the planning of staffing or expertise requirements
throughout WorkCover;
manage poor performance; and
establish career development needs and training priorities.

Complete an internet security review.
Ensure all insurers and self insurers are to be in production
with Q1, including continuation of internet training, the
development and maintenance of information systems that
support organisational objectives. In addition, the agency
will introduce a facility to register and load insurer
lodgements electronically and commence development of
the facility, which will allow insurers and self insurers to
enter premium rating returns on-line.
Upgrade the financial management information system.
Support the transition to a new human resource information
system, including the testing and implement of new
features within the system.
Develop a draft record keeping plan, to be completed by
March 2004, in accordance with requirements of legislation
and State Records Office.
Register all conciliation and review records on the central
records management system.
Develop and implement a disaster recovery plan for
corporate information.
Develop and implement a record keeping training program
for agency staff.
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Conciliation and Review
This section includes information on the conciliation and review activities of:
• Statutory Disputes
• Registration of Agreements
• Civil Proceedings for Damages
• Compensation Magistrate’s Court
• Medical Assessment Panels

Statutory Dispute Resolution
This activity provides a service for the resolution of disputed
workers’ compensation claims and the registration of
agreements between parties in the workers’ compensation
scheme. The Conciliation and Review Directorate has two
distinct operational output areas:
Statutory Dispute Resolution; and
Registration of Agreements and Civil Proceedings

Highlights for 2002/03
3,117 new disputes were referred to the Directorate.
Resolved 3,544 disputes; 2671 (75%) by conciliation, 873
(25%) following review.
At conciliation, approximately 40% of disputes were
resolved within four weeks of lodgement with a further 25%
between four to eight weeks.
Of disputes resolved at review, 9% were resolved within
four weeks of referral and a further 11% between four and
eight weeks.
Registered 4,152 Memorandum of Agreements for
Schedule 2, Schedule 5 and Redemptions.
During 2002/03, 98 workers were referred to a medical
assessment panel.
There were 648 referrals made to employers in 2002/03
compared with 557 in 2000/01 and 537 in 2001/02.
Conducted training for stakeholders on the role, policies
and procedures of the Directorate.

The Conciliation and Review Directorate seeks to resolve
workers’ compensation disputes in a manner that is fair,
economical, informal and quick in reaching agreement. This is
achieved initially by a process of conciliation to assist parties to
resolve disputes by agreement. Where agreement cannot be
reached, disputes are heard and determined by a review officer.
Appeals from decisions of review officers (on matters of law) are
heard in the compensation magistrate’s court.
The conciliation process is non-adversarial and seeks to bring
parties to agreement rather than arbitrating the merits of a
dispute. The process is informal, largely administrative and
relatively free of regulation. Conciliation officers try to identify
the real issues between the parties and use their skills to define
the differences with a view to securing a mutually satisfactory
agreement. The review process is the more formal step in the
system. Matters are referred to review when conciliation
concludes without a satisfactory solution being reached or a
party requests a matter to go to review. A review officer
determines the issues after considering the evidence.
For the 12 months to 30 June 2003, 3,117 new disputes were
referred to the Directorate, compared to 3,654 for the previous
twelve-month period. During the year: 3,544 matters were
resolved; 2,671 (75%) by conciliation, 873 (25%) following
review. Conciliation has maintained a rapid turnover of disputes.
Approximately 40% of disputes were resolved within four weeks
of lodgement with a further 25% between four and eight weeks.
Accordingly more than 60% are resolved within 8 weeks.
Of disputes resolved at review, 9% were resolved within four
weeks of referral and a further 11% between four and eight
weeks. For information on the workload statistics for the
statutory dispute resolution proceedings refer to table 10.
Also, throughout the year the Directorate was involved in and
conducted numerous training seminars for stakeholders in the
workers’ compensation system. Information on the Directorate’s
policies and procedures and overall functioning of the
Conciliation and Review Directorate is provided at the seminars.
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Table 11: Workload Indicators for Statutory Dispute Resolution Proceedings

2000/01

2001/02

WORKLOAD INDICATORS – STATUTORY

2002/03

DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEEDINGS

50

4,757

4,042

No disputes resolved

3,900 = 82%
857 = 18%

3,125 = 77%
917 = 23%

29%
32%
10%
28%

43%
21%
11%
25%

10%
12%
14%
65%

6%
9%
15%
70%

24%
27%
9%
41%

34%
17%
10%
40%

4,284
3,900
857
3

3,654
3,125
917
Nil

Referrals for conciliation filed
Number finalised- at conciliation
Number finalised- at review
Number finalised- by Compensation Magistrate
General

3,117
2,671
873
Nil

6,220
511
858
6
87
65
95

5,240
807
918
10
118
84
91

Number of conciliation conferences
Number of preliminary reviews
Number of reviews
Matters referred to Compensation Magistrate
Number of appeals to Compensation Magistrate
Other matters heard by Compensation Magistrate
Matters referred to a Medical Assessment Panel

4,513
709
892
6
106
49
88

at conciliation
at review
Timeframe
% disputes resolved at conciliation
<4 weeks
between 4 weeks and 8 weeks
between 8 weeks and 12 weeks
>12 weeks
% disputes resolved from date of referral to
Review
<4 weeks
between 4 weeks and 8 weeks
between 8 weeks and 12 weeks
>12 weeks
% disputes resolved from date lodged
<4 weeks
between 4 weeks and 8 weeks
between 8 weeks and 12 weeks
>12 weeks
Workload:

3,544
2,671 = 75%
873 = 25%

40%
25%
11%
24%

9%
11%
12%
69%
30%
20%
9%
41%
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Registration of Agreements
There are two relevant levels (1) where the degree of disability is
not less than 30%; and (2) where the degree of disability is not
less than 16%.

Memorandum of agreements are registered in those cases
whereby parties agree to settle a claim for compensation in
accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Act 1981.

The Director, Conciliation and Review Directorate records
agreements regarding a worker’s degree of disability. Where the
worker and the employer cannot agree on whether the worker’s
degree of disability is not less than the relevant level claimed, the
worker may refer that question to the Director. If the dispute is
then not resolved the question is referred to a review officer for
resolution. A review officer determines whether the worker has a
degree of disability of not less than the relevant level claimed.
Appeals from decisions of review officers are heard in the
Compensation Magistrate’s Court.

Where parties agree to settle a claim formally under the Act, a
Memorandum of Agreement is registered in accordance with
section 76. Agreements registered in accordance with section
76 comprises the categories identified in table 11, while the
graph shows the number of Memorandum of Agreements
registered since 1993/94.
Table 12: Number Agreements Registered by Category and
Year
1998/99

1999/00

2000/01

2001/02

2002/03

Schedule 2

1,663

1,765

2,208

2,430

2,562

Schedule 5

24

19

13

16

20

Redemption

17

560

1,299

1,681

1,570

1,704

2,344

3,520

4,127

4,152

Total

00
/0
20 1
01
/0
20 2
02
/0
3

/0
0
99

/9
8

/9
7

/9
9
98

97

96

/9
6
95

/9
5
94

93

/9
4

4127 4152
4500
4000
3520
3500
3000
2344
2500
1848 1704
2000
1547
1265
1500
853
1000 679
500
0

Figure 9: Number of Agreements Registered by Year

Civil Proceedings for Damages
Degree of disability agreements are recorded in those cases
where workers’ seek to take common law action, for damages
against employers, independent of the Workers’ Compensation
and Rehabilitation Act 1981.
Part IV of the Act provides that in certain circumstances a worker
may initiate civil proceedings, for damages against their
employers. Following legislative Amendments in 1999, damages
can only be awarded against a worker’s employer for a disability
suffered by a worker where it has been agreed or determined the
worker’s degree of disability is not less than one of the relevant
levels.
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In those cases where a worker has a degree of disability, which
is not less than 16%, the worker is required to elect to retain the
right to seek damages. Subject to certain exceptions, elections
must be lodged within six months after the commencement of
weekly payments. The Director is responsible for the registration
of elections. Once the Director registers an election the worker
is able to initiate civil proceedings for damages against their
employer. Once an election is registered a worker’s entitlement
to statutory workers’ compensation ceases. The number of civil
proceedings has increased slightly over the past two full years.

Compensation Magistrate’s Court
Matters before review officers may be referred to the
Compensation Magistrate’s Court by a review officer for
determination if a question of law arises or because of the
complexity of issues. Review officers deal with all but the most
complex of matters. An appeal against a review officer’s
decision to the compensation magistrate’s court must involve a
question of law. The magistrate also has jurisdiction to hear
offences under the Act as well as applications for enforcement
and stays of orders made by conciliation and review officers.

Medical Assessment Panels
When there is a conflict of medical opinion, a conciliation officer,
review officer, or the compensation magistrate may refer a
question about the nature, extent or permanence of a disability,
or of a worker’s capacity for work, to a medical assessment
panel. A review officer or the compensation magistrate may
refer a question as to the degree of a worker’s disability to a
medical assessment panel for the purposes of an assessment in
accordance with section 93D(2) of the Act.
A register of medical practitioners who are prepared to
participate in panels for the purpose of conducting medical
examinations of workers is kept by the Directorate. The register
was created following consultation with the Western Australian
Branch of the Australian Medical Association. The medical
assessment panel register comprises 294 medical practitioners
from various specialties. During the year 98 workers were
referred to a medical assessment panel.
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Notifications under Section 57A
and 57B
Sections 57A and 57B of the Act require both insurers and self
insurers to notify the Directorate within a period of 14 days when
they are unable to accept liability for a claim. The following table
lists annual notifications lodged by approved insurers and self
insurers.

Table 13: Number of Section 57A and 57B Notifications by
Year
95/96

96/97

97/98

98/99

99/00

00/01

01/02

02/03

Approved
SelfInsurers

188

156

212

1,434

1,469

1,612

1,825

1,944

Approved
Insurers

5,283

5,654

6,306

5,635

6,860

6,125

4,763

6,519

Total

5,471

5,810

6,518

7,069

8,329

7,737

6,585

8,463

Table 14: Workload Indicators for Agreements and Civil Proceedings

2000/2001

2001/2002

WORKLOAD INDICATORS

2002/03

- AGREEMENTS & CIVIL PROCEEDINGS

Agreements Registered – Section 76
2,208

2,430

Schedule 2

2,562

13

16

Schedule 5

20

1,299

1,681

Redemption

1,570

3,520

4,127

557

537

Referral of Question of Degree of Disability to
Employers

648

502

493

Disputes Referred to Review

567

672

476

Disputes finalised after Referral to Review

552

TOTAL

4,152

Agreements Recorded
67

59

Without Referral

32

268

150

After Referral

133

244

145

Elections Registered

104

242

346

Determinations Made

396

18

-

Referred to Compensation Magistrate

-

96

94

Appeals to Compensation Magistrate

83

13

Other Matters Heard by Compensation
Magistrate

11

15

Referred to Medical Assessment Panel

10
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Premium Rates Committee
The Premium Rates Committee (Committee) is an independent
body established under section 147 of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. It is responsible for
the determination of recommended premium rates for Employer
Indemnity Policies and determination of appeals against
premium assessment under section 154 of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.

Membership to the Premium
Rates Committee
The Committee consists of three ex officio and three nominee
Members. The ex officio Members are the Auditor General of
Western Australia as Chairman, the Executive Director of
WorkCover and the Managing Director of the Insurance
Commission of Western Australia (formerly the State
Government Insurance Commission).
The three nominee Members shall be:
a person experienced in management affairs in commerce
or industry, or both;
a person experienced in trade union affairs; and
a person experienced in the insurance business but not
employed by the Insurance Commission of Western
Australia.
Under section 147 (5), Deputy Members to the Members of the
Premium Rates Committee may also be appointed.
Section 148 of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation
Act 1981 states Members of the Committee may hold office for a
period not exceeding three (3) years, and are eligible for
reappointment. Membership to the Premium Rates Committee is
a one year period ending on 3 May 2004.

Members
Members of the Committee are as follows:
Mr Des Pearson (Chairman)
Mr Pearson has been the Auditor General for Western Australia
since 1991 and is also a Commissioner and inaugural Chair of
the State Records Commission of WA. He holds a Bachelor of
Business degree and a Graduate Diploma in Management, and
is the immediate past National President of CPA Australia.
Mr Harry Neesham
The Executive Director of WorkCover, Mr Neesham has
extensive experience in the area of workers’ compensation and
premium rates. He has served on the Committee for over 20
years.
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Mr Vic Evans
As the Managing Director of the Insurance Commission of
Western Australia, Mr Evans has served on the Committee for
over 10 years.
Mr Garry Moore
Mr Moore was appointed Member to the Premium Rates
Committee in March 1998. Mr Moore is the State Manager of
SGIO Insurance in Western Australia and has worked in the
insurance industry for over 30 years.
Ms Anne Bellamy
Ms Bellamy is the Chamber of Commerce and Industry (WA)’s
Director of Health, Safety and Workers’ Compensation and has
extensive experience in both workers’ compensation and
occupational safety and health matters. Ms Bellamy is also a
member of the WorkSafe WA Commission and the National
Occupational Health and Safety Commission.
Ms Stephanie Mayman
Ms Mayman is the Secretary of Unions WA and was appointed
as a Member of the Committee on 5 February 2002 following her
nomination by Unions WA. For over 18 years Ms Mayman has
been employed directly in the trade union movement gaining a
broad range and variety of experience. Ms Mayman’s trade
union experience is complemented by her active involvement in
a wide range of community based organizations.

Deputy Members
Deputy Members of the Committee are as at 30 June 2003 is as
follows:
Mr Kerry O’Neil, Deputy Chairman and Deputy Member to
Mr Des Pearson;
Ms Diane Munrowd, Deputy Member for Mr Harry
Neesham;
Mr Lew Watts, Deputy Member for Mr Vic Evans; and
Mr John Snowball, Deputy Member for Mr Garry Moore.

Resignation of Members
During 2002/03, Mr Doug Pascoe resigned as a Deputy Member
and his contribution to the Premium Rates Committee is
acknowledged.
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The 2003/04 recommended premium rates were influenced by:
stable and close to expected election option lodgements to
31/01/2003, with some increase in the months of July to
September 2002;
better than expected claims experience for 2001/02 and for
the half-year to 31/12/2002 (except redemptions and
common law payments increase as do case estimates);
the 11.2% reduction of the estimated claim numbers
incurred from 44,010 (revised) for 2001 to 39,066 for 2002.
This gives an estimated 1.1% reduction in cost, assuming
smaller claims are saved;
the assumption that claim numbers will stabilise in future,
based on the stable number of 2002/03 claims reported to
31/12/2002 and 31/03/2003;
an average claim size from our actuarial projection models;
the 0.2% increase in total expenses and excluding
brokerage;
a 2.4% decrease in common law numbers (central estimate
model) with a similar mix of significant and serious claims,
decreases costs by around 0.25%;
a 2.2% increase in premium rates due to the increase in the
real market rates of interest used to obtain the present
value of projected future claim payments;
future wage inflation unchanged at 3.5% as per WA
Treasury forecasts;
the once-off effect of removing the 3% allowance for
brokerage/commission was accounted for two years ago
and does not influence this year’s rate change;
an appropriate allowance for the impact of GST on claims
costs is incorporated;
does not include the 10% GST on premium itself;
an eighth accident year’s data is used for relative premium
rates;
no allowance is made for the State Government’s proposed
changes to workers’ compensation, which are still being
developed; and
the combination of these assumptions imply an overall
5.1% real decrease in premium rates.

Premium Rates Committee Code
of Conduct
The Committee has an endorsed a Code of Conduct which
promotes good practice, identifying the obligations of Members
and provides guidance on ethical conduct.

Appeals under Section 154 of the
Act
During 2002/03, the Committee determined four appeals under
section 154(1)(b) of the Workers’ Compensation and
Rehabilitation Act 1981 where an employer is dissatisfied with
the amount of the premium, which an insurer assesses as
required to insure them under the Act. Only one of the four
appeals determined in 2002/03 was lodged in that year.

Determination of the 2003/04
Recommended Premium Rates
The Premium Rates Committee arranged and considered an
Actuarial Assessment of the Recommended Premium Rates for
2003/04 as part of its annual process. An overview of the
scheme performance as at the 30 June 2002 is available for
examination on WorkCover’s website at www.workcover.wa.gov.au.
In considering the actuarial assessment and based on the
performance of the Western Australia workers’ compensation
system, the Committee agreed to reduce the recommended
premium rates by an overall 5.1%. The Committee has
continued to determine the rates exclusive of a brokerage
allowance.
The average recommended premium rate reduced (exclusive of
the brokerage allowance) from 2.469% for 2002/03 to 2.342% for
2003/04. The average recommended premium rate was 2.625%
for 2001/02 and 2.972% for 2000/01.
In real terms, figure 11 illustrates the effect the overall 5.1%
decrease will have on the 480 industry rates. The actual change
in individual industry rates is dependent on the performance of
each industry and the experience rating method adopted and
allotted to each industry based on the size of the class.
The recommended premium rates were gazetted on 30 May
2003 and effective from 4.00pm 30 June 2003.
Table of movement in Recommended Premium Rates
Movement in
Recommended
Premium Rates

Number of Recommended Rates which :
Decrease

Increase

Unchanged

Total

5% or less

127

66

15

208

more than 5% but 10% or less

121

24

0

145

more than 10% but 15% or less

72

8

0

80

more than 15% but 20% or less

26

0

0

26

more than 20%
Total

13

8

0

21

359

106

15

480

Figure 10: Movement in Recommended Premium Rate
Classifications for 2003/04
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The objectives of the Premium Rates Committee in determining
recommended premium rates is to:
calculate the total amount of premium income required to
meet the cost of claims plus expenses and margins with
anticipated investment income;
recommend rates that are broadly equitable across different
industry classes with no intentional cross subsidy of rates;
suggest an appropriate overall increase or decrease in
relative premium rates; and
use methods which give relative stability in the rate
structure.
A further objective of the Premium Rates Committee is to
examine the adequacy of outstanding claims reserves both in
aggregate and by insurer. The actuarial assessment includes the
calculation of the amount of premium income required to meet
the projected cost of claims including expenses and margins with
anticipated investment income.
WorkCover Western Australia
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In considering the fixing of the industrial diseases premium
Members noted the Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund
was in surplus at $12.528M with revenue of $393,000 as at 30
June 2002. The actuarial assessment of outstanding liability for
the same period projected a requirement for $6.046M gross of
recoveries and $3.837M net of recoveries.

In view of the healthy state of the fund, the Committee agreed to
gazette a premium of $100 per policy issued during the period 30
June 2003 to 30 June 2006 (or any part thereof). Thus,
providing financial benefits to all employers required to contribute
to the fund.

Industrial Diseases Medical Panel
The Industrial Diseases Medical Panel is established to
determine the questions prescribed in sections 38 and 93D of
the Act. All claims for compensation in relation to
pneumoconiosis, mesothelioma and lung cancer are referred to
the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel for determination as to
whether the worker is or was suffering from the prescribed
diseases, the extent of the disability caused by the disease and a
number of other related questions. The Panel is made up of
physicians who specialise in diseases of the chest or
occupational disease. Panels operate independently, with
WorkCover providing administrative support and funding only.

Membership to the Industrial
Disease Medical Panel
Panel Members during 2002/03 were:
Chairman
Members

Dr F Heyworth (1 August 2001 to 31 July 2002)
Dr E Lee (1 August 2002 to 31 July 2003)
Dr D Bucens
Dr Q Summers
Dr E Gabbay
Dr M K Tandon
Dr A W Musk
Dr R Tarala
Dr J Philpott
Dr A E Tribe
Dr M Prichard
Dr K C Wan
Dr B Robinson
Dr J Waring
Dr G F Ryan
Dr S C Pang

Resignation of Chairman
During 2002, Dr Fred Heyworth tendered his resignation as
Chairman of the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel a role he has
performed for almost 10 years. During this time Dr Heyworth’s
professional skill and knowledge has provided a major
contribution to the administration of workers’ compensation in
general and the Industrial Diseases Medical Panel in particular.
In recognition of this service,
the Commission presented
Dr Heyworth
with
a
certificate of appreciation.

Industrial Disease Statistics
The majority of successful applications were associated with
asbestos exposure at work. The number of confirmed
Pneumoconiosis determinations remain much the same as in the
previous years whereas the number of Mesothelioma
determinations was reduced.
Table 15: Industrial Disease Statistics by Category
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
2000/01 2001/02 2002/03
Successful Applications
Pneumoconiosis

9

18

19

Mesothelioma

28

29

20

Lung Cancer

8

9

6

Pneumoconiosis/lung Cancer

2

0

0

Pneumoconiosis/Mesothelioma

0

1

1

Total

47

57

46

Unsuccessful Applications

4

18

25

Total

51

75

71

Reviewed

4

12

9

New

47

63

62

Total

51

75

71

Applications

Applications under – Section
93D
Pneumoconiosis

4

2

0

Pneumoconiosis/lung Cancer

1

1

0

Lung Cancer

1

1

0

Mesothelioma

0

1

0

Total

6

5

0

The Chairman, Mr Brian
Bradley and Dr Heyworth
are pictured.
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Injury Management Review Unit
The Injury Management Review Unit’s (formerly known as the
Rehabilitation Review Unit) main function is to provide informal
resolution and mediation of issues and concerns relating to injury
management (including vocational rehabilitation). The Unit
provides specialist advice, education and information on injury
management matters to the Conciliation and Review Directorate,
approved vocational rehabilitation providers, insurers, doctors,
employers and injured workers. It is also responsible for the
injury management review system, which acts as “safety net” for
injured workers, and the monitoring of the injury management
process.

Key Achievements for 2002/03
Dealt with 173 formal issues and 395 telephone enquiries
referred to the Injury Management Review Unit
Identified 1,555 injured workers though the injury
management review system who were reviewed by insurers
to establish their need for injury management services.

Due to the introduction of a new WorkCover insurer/self insurer
electronic data reporting specification (Q1), it was not possible to
incorporate self insurers in the injury management review system
during 2002/03.
During 2002/03, 173 formal issues and 395 telephone enquiries
were referred to the Injury Management Review Unit. Of the
formal issues, 80 were referred by the Conciliation and Review
Directorate, 46 by injured workers, 25 by insurers, 13 by
approved vocational rehabilitation providers, 5 by others, 3 by
medical practitioners and 1 by employers. Of the telephone
contacts, 157 were from injured workers, 106 from approved
vocational rehabilitation providers, 41 from insurers, 40 from
others, 29 from employers, 21 from medical practitioners and 1
from the Directorate.
A total of 811 questionnaires seeking feedback on the injury
management scheme were sent to injured workers who had
been referred to an approved vocational rehabilitation provider,
234 were completed and returned.

Planned Activities for 2003/04
The main issues referred to the Unit included participation in
vocational rehabilitation, return to work and retraining, key party
contact, service delivery plans and referral matters.

Continue to monitor the injury management review system
with self insurers to be incorporated into the System during
2003/04.

The Unit is also responsible for investigating complaints lodged
against approved vocational rehabilitation providers. Over the
12 month period there were 13 formal complaints lodged. The
majority of complaints are from injured workers relating to the
cost of rehabilitation programs where no return to work outcome
was achieved.

Continue to provide informal resolution and mediation of
issues and concerns relating to injury management.

The injury management review system (System) has been
operational for four years. All claims continue to be monitored
monthly and the Unit reviews those claims identified as not
having returned to work and being referred to rehabilitation.
Approved insurers are required to submit monthly reports on the
status of these claims. The Unit reviews these responses and
follows up claims identified as requiring further investigation
and/or injury management assistance. In 2002/03, 1,555 injured
workers were identified by the System and reviewed by insurers
to establish their need for injury management services. Cases
identified as requiring injury management are forwarded back to
the insurer, who is then responsible for contacting the employer
regarding injury management activities. Evidence that vocational
rehabilitation referrals have taken place if appropriate are
confirmed via on-line data submitted to WorkCover.
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Certification of Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the accompanying Performance Indicators are; based on proper records, relevant and appropriate for
assisting users to assess the performance of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission, and fairly represent
the performance of the Commission for the period 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003.

____________________________________________________

B T BRADLEY
Chairman
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003

____________________________________________________

H T NEESHAM
Member
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003
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Audited Performance Indicators

Performance Indicator Report
For the year ended 30.06.2003

Rationale
Mission
WorkCover WA’s Mission is:
“To minimise the social and economic impact on workers of work related injury and
disease and achieve cost effectiveness for employers and the community.”
WorkCover strives to achieve its mission through effective administration of the Workers’ Compensation
and Rehabilitation Act 1981, the provision of quality policy advice to government and excellent
stakeholder relationships.

Outcomes & Outputs
To achieve the broad aims embodied in the Mission statement, WorkCover seeks to deliver three primary
Outcomes: Information and Education, Scheme Regulation and Dispute Resolution.
The Outputs that are produced by the Agency directly support the achievement of these Outcomes. The
achievement of the Outcomes in turn influences the broader aims of our Mission.
Outcomes
The outcomes WorkCover seeks to achieve and against which the Agency’s effectiveness is measured
are:
1. Information and Education
Workers’ compensation scheme participants are aware of their rights and responsibilities
regarding workers’ compensation and injury management;
2.

Scheme Regulation
Workers’ compensation scheme participants comply with legislative requirements and standards;
and

3.

Dispute Resolution
Workers’ compensation disputes are resolved and agreements registered.

Outputs
To achieve the Outcomes of Information and Education, Scheme Regulation, and Dispute Resolution,
WorkCover delivers the following Outputs:
1. Information and Education
Information and education is provided to targeted participants of the workers’ compensation
scheme. The aim is to increase their knowledge of their rights and responsibilities regarding the
workers’ compensation scheme and injury management matters.
WorkCover targets specific groups of participants to maximise the impact on the scheme.
Information and education are delivered:
•

through seminar style sessions tailored to meet the needs of the targeted groups; and

•

by way of a general enquiry service which provides answers to relevant questions from
individual scheme participants.
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Compliance
WorkCover is responsible for assisting the Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection in
the administration of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981. In line with this
responsibility, the Agency seeks to secure compliance with the provisions of the Act. Inspections
and investigations are conducted to ensure compliance with workers’ compensation legislation and
prosecution of non-complying parties.
It is fundamental to the operation of the scheme that all employers hold a workers’ compensation
insurance policy. Large-scale non-compliance would result in increased premium rates and
pressure on the General Fund. WorkCover seeks to ensure employers hold appropriate workers’
compensation insurance cover through workplace visits and contact with employers by letters and
telephone.
3.

Accreditation and Licensing
Key service providers ie. insurers and self-insurers, vocational rehabilitation providers and
approved (hearing) testers, are subjected to accreditation or licensing standards and their
activities are monitored. Sanctions are imposed on service providers that do not consistently
deliver services to the agreed standard.

4.

Dispute Resolution
WorkCover acts to resolve disputes between scheme participants through a system of conciliation
and review. The initial process assists parties to resolve disputes by agreement through a system
of conciliation conferences. Where the parties cannot reach agreement, disputes are heard and
determined by a review officer. Appeals from decisions of review officers are heard in the
compensation magistrate’s court.

5.

Registration of Agreements
WorkCover registers agreements between scheme participants where:
•

parties agree to settle a claim for compensation in accordance with the legislation; or

•

there is agreement or a determination of the degree of disability of an injured worker prior to
proceeding civil action for common law damages.

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Key Effectiveness Indicators measure the extent to which WorkCover has achieved its Outcomes during
the preceding year.

Key Efficiency Indicators
Key Efficiency Indicators measure the cost of producing Outputs. Output costs include all expenditure of
the agency with the exception of costs associated with the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund
($139,107), uninsured claims payments ($916,145), strategic initiatives ($10,317), the management of
trust funds ($22,627), tenant costs for the agency’s West Perth property ($116,105), funding of joint
initiatives with the WorkSafe division of the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
($250,000) and fulfillment of WorkCover’s obligations under the Service Delivery Agreement with the
Commonwealth for delivery of services to Cocos and Christmas islands ($9,762). These costs do not
contribute to the delivery of outputs.

Notes to the Performance Indicators

The following Performance Indicators should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes to the
Performance Indicators.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators
Key Effectiveness Indicators measure the extent to which WorkCover has achieved its
Outcomes during the preceding year.

Outcome 1.

Information And Education

Workers’ compensation scheme participants are aware of their rights and responsibilities
regarding workers’ compensation and injury management.

100%

Effectiveness
Attendees

Indicator

1.1

–

Seminar

80%

The percentage of people attending WorkCover
information and education seminars who
reported an increase in their level of knowledge
of the workers’ compensation scheme as a result
of the seminar:

60%

As demonstrated in the graph, the
effectiveness of WorkCover information and
education seminars remain at a very high
level.

0%

96%

98%

98%

99%

98%

40%
20%

1999

2000

2001

2002

Effectiveness Indicator 1.2 – Enquiries
The percentage of Info-line callers who said their
level of knowledge of the workers’ compensation
scheme increased as a result of their call:

100%

The effectiveness of WorkCover’s Infoline
Service
continues
to
improve.
In
2002/2003, it is highly likely the increase in
effectiveness can be
attributed to the
restructure and resourcing of the Infoline
Service.

60%

83%

78%

84%

88%

2003

93%

80%

40%
20%
0%
1999
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Outcome 2.

Scheme Regulation

Workers’ compensation scheme participants comply with legislative requirements and
standards.

100%

Effectiveness indicator 2.1 - Compliance
Percentage of new employers found to hold
workers’ compensation insurance at the time of
inspection:
It is pleasing to note the high level of
compliance by new employers continues to
remain consistent with previous reporting
periods.
WorkCover is committed to
maintaining this standard.

94.9%

96.5%

97.2%

98.8%

2000

2001

2002

2003

80%
60%
40%
20%
0%

100%

100%

100%

87%

92%

Effectiveness indicator 2.2 – Accreditation
and Licensing

80%
60%

60%

Percentage of service providers
accreditation or licensing standards:

40%

40%

20%

20%

that

met

81%

73%

0%

The reduction in the percentage of approved
testers meeting accreditation standards is
due primarily to an increase in the number
of testers who failed to complete the
required minimum number test (12) in their
12 month approval period. Three out of
eleven approved insurers failed to achieve
satisfactory performance on one of seven
performance indicators of the Insurance
Performance Monitoring Programme

2000

2001

2002

100%

2001

2002

2003

79%
80%

2003

1999

Insurers

98%

100%

2000

Self Insurers
100% 100%
100% 87%

89%

80%

80%

60%

60%

40%

40%

20%

20%

0%

86%

79%

80%

2001

2002

74%

0%
1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Vocational Rehabilitation
Providers
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100%

0%
1999

100%

100%

100%

1999

2000

Approved Testers
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Outcome 3.

Dispute Resolution

Workers’ compensation disputes are resolved and agreements registered.

100%

Effectiveness
Resolution

Indicator

3.1

–

Dispute

83%

84%

82%

80%

Percentage of workers’ compensation disputes
lodged with WorkCover’s Conciliation and Review
Directorate resolved at conciliation:

77%

75%

60%
40%

The reduction in the percentage of disputes
resolved at conciliation reflects a trend over
the last 3 years for parties to request the
more formal review process to resolve
disputes.

20%
0%
1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

60%

59%

100%

Effectiveness Indicator
Resolution (Timeliness)

3.2

–

Dispute

Percentage of workers’ compensation scheme
disputes lodged with WorkCover’s Conciliation
and Review Directorate resolved within 12 weeks
of lodgement.

80%

69%

65%
60%

60%

40%

The percentage of matters resolved within
12 weeks of lodgement has remained fairly
constant for the last 3 years.

20%

0%
1999
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Key Efficiency Indicators
Key Efficiency Indicators measure the average cost of producing outputs.

Output 1
The cost per contact to provide information,
education and training services:

$74

$80
$63
$60

$55
$48

$40

The drop in the number of enquiry contacts
resulted in an increased cost of 17%.

$20
$0
2000

Output 2
The cost per inspection to ensure compliance
with
the
Workers’
Compensation
and
Rehabilitation Act 1981:

$100

2001

2003

$90

$80

$65
$52

$60

The cost per inspection has remained
relatively stable due to the number of
inspections increasing commensurate with
increased costs.

2002

$54

$40
$20
$0
2000

2001

2002

2003

Output 3
The average weighted cost per service provider
to monitor accredited or licensed service
providers:

$5,779

$6,000
$5,000

$5,009
$4,427

$4,428

2000

2001

$4,000

The average weighted cost to monitor
service providers increased due to a
reduction in the number of insurers from 13
to 11 in the current year. The reduction
impacts on the indicator because of the
weighting applied to this class of service
provider. The impact of additional staff
resources in this area is also a factor.
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Output 4

$2,000

$1,777
$1,575

The average cost to resolve each dispute:
$1,500

The cost per dispute resolved has increased
over previous years primarily due to more
matters being referred to the review stage
in the dispute resolution process and a
reduced number of applications received.

$1,290

$1,332

$1,000
$500
$0
2000

Output 5
The cost per agreement to register agreements
or determinations:

$800

2001

2002

2003

$710
$532

$600

$441

$435
$400

The number of agreements processed
remained
fairly
constant.
However
determinations increased using existing
resources resulting in a reduction in the
cost per agreement/determination.
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Notes to the Performance Indicators
How were the performance indicators derived?
Effectiveness Indicator 1.1 – Information Seminars
The indicator was derived from a survey of information and education session attendees. At the
conclusion of each session people who attended were requested to complete a survey form with a four
point rating scale. The respondents rated their level of agreement (from strongly disagree through
disagree and agree, to strongly agree) with a statement indicating they had increased their knowledge
of workers’ compensation as a result of their attendance at the seminar.
The proportion of “agree” and “strongly agree” responses to total responses is reported as an
indication of an increase in the attendees’ level of knowledge of the workers’ compensation scheme
and their rights and responsibilities.
The information and education session attendees surveyed belong to targeted segments of
WorkCover’s primary customer groups: workers, employers and service providers. Of the 1625
persons who attended information or education sessions, 920 were surveyed and provided useable
responses. This is a response rate of 73% with a sampling error rate of ± 2.13% at a 95% confidence
level assuming 0.5 as the proportion of incidence in the population.

Effectiveness Indicator 1.2 – Enquiries
The indicator is derived from a survey of Info-line callers. At the conclusion of their Info-line call a
sample of callers requesting workers’ compensation related information was asked the question: Do
you know more about the workers’ compensation scheme as a result of the information provided to
you during your call to Info-line? The proportion of “yes” answers to total responses forms the basis of
this indicator.
During 2002/2003, 388 Info-line callers were surveyed out of 19260 calls received. 364 of those
surveyed provided useable responses. This is a response rate of 94% with a sampling error rate of ±
5.09% at a 95% confidence level assuming 0.5 as the proportion of incidence in the population.

Effectiveness Indicator 2.1 – Compliance
The indicator is derived from the results of monitoring carried out by WorkCover. WorkCover inspects
businesses to determine their compliance with the requirement to hold workers’ compensation
insurance. One of the primary categories of businesses subject to inspection is new business. The
indicator shows the percentage of new businesses inspected, which had workers’ compensation,
insurance at the time checks were made.
New business inspections are used as the basis for this indicator because all other businesses are
subject to continuous monitoring by WorkCover. If an existing business with a workers’ compensation
insurance policy fails to renew its policy the insurer notifies WorkCover and the Agency follows up to
ensure the business has a current policy if required. Further field inspection activities are targeted at
locating any other existing businesses that do not hold appropriate insurance cover. Consequently,
new businesses represent the most likely category of business to include uninsured employers.
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Since April 2002, information on new business registrations has been obtained directly from the
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection (DOCEP). Prior to this, the information was
obtained from Dunn and Bradstreet who published information on new business registrations obtained
from DOCEP in their publication, Dunn’s Gazette.
An inspection may consist of an on site visit or other contact such as a letter or telephone call.
Effectiveness Indicator 2.2 – Accreditation & Licensing
WorkCover accredits and licenses key service providers and monitors their activities to ensure services
are being delivered to the agreed standard. Service providers subject to monitoring are insurers, self
insurers, vocational rehabilitation providers and approved (hearing) testers. Only air conduction
testers were monitored for their performances in the previous years. In 2002/2003, audiologists were
included in the category of approved testers together with air conduction testers.
The Accreditation & Licensing effectiveness indicator is derived from internal records of the results of
service provider monitoring for compliance with legislation and standards.
All results of
accredited/licenced service providers are included in the performance indicator.

Effectiveness Indicators 3.1 & 3.2 - Dispute Resolution
The Dispute Resolution effectiveness indicators are derived from case records of all disputes held by
WorkCover’s Conciliation and Review Directorate.

Efficiency Indicators
Efficiency indicators are formulated to measure the cost per output unit. Cost data is taken from the
financial statements. Quantity measures are extracted from the agency’s Output Based Management
reporting system and agency files.

What are the differences from previous performance indicators?
In 2002/2003, Policy Advice was deleted from WorkCover’s Performance Indicators. The difficulty in
reflecting the amount and impact of policy advice provided by the Agency could lead to inaccurate
reporting of effectiveness. There is also an inherent indication that the provision of policy to
Government is deemed as a support function and not a primary output of an agency. Given that the
total direct cost of providing policy advice last financial year was only 2.6% of WorkCover’s budget, the
Agency concluded that this activity does not require an effectiveness indicator.
The deletion of Policy Advice affected WorkCover’s Key Effectiveness and Efficiency Indicators. Key
Effectiveness Indicator Outcome 1 changed from ‘Information, Education and Advice’ to ‘Information
and Education’.
Policy Advice Output was deleted from the Key Efficiency Indicators and the remaining Outputs were
re-numbered. The total cost of Policy Advice was apportioned accordingly to the remaining five
Outputs. The effect from such a move has increased the average cost of each Output for the current
year. As such, the average cost from the last three years (2000 – 2002) were re-calculated using the
same method of apportionment, without Policy Advice, to come up with a comparable average cost.
The 1998/1999 financial data was insufficient to create a similar apportionment and was therefore
removed.
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Why are the indicators relevant to the outcomes and outputs?
WorkCover’s outcomes for 2002/2003 were:
•

Outcome 1 – Information and Education
Workers’ compensation scheme participants are aware of their rights and responsibilities
regarding workers’ compensation and injury management.

•

Outcome 2 – Scheme Regulation
Workers’ compensation scheme participants comply with legislative requirements and standards.

•

Outcome 3 – Dispute Resolution
Workers’ compensation disputes are resolved and agreements are registered.

Effectiveness Indicators 1.1 and 1.2
In order to maximise the impact on the workers’ compensation scheme, WorkCover has adopted a two
pronged approach to its delivery of information and education. Firstly, key groups of scheme
participants are identified and targeted for delivery of information and education seminar style
sessions. This approach directs specific information to those most in need.
Secondly, answers are provided to individual scheme participants’ enquiries on a one-to-one basis
through WorkCover’s general enquiry service. The vast majority of enquiries are via WorkCover’s Infoline telephone enquiry service.
Effectiveness indicators 1.1 and 1.2 are directly relevant to the information & education component of
Outcome 1 in that they measure the increase in targeted scheme participants’ level of knowledge of
the workers’ compensation scheme achieved as a result of outputs of the agency.

Effectiveness Indicator 2.1
The indicator shows the percentage of sampled new employers with workers’ compensation insurance
at the time checks were made.
This indicator supports Outcome 2 in that it indicates the extent to which new employers comply with
the provisions of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 relating to requirements to
hold workers’ compensation insurance policies.

Effectiveness Indicator 2.2
The percentage of service providers that met agreed standards is directly relevant to Outcome 2 in
that it measures the extent to which service providers complied with the provisions of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 and agreed standards.
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Effectiveness Indicator 3.1 and 3.2
In 1993, the Government amended the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 to
streamline the dispute resolution process. The amended process is aimed at resolving disputes in a
manner that is fair, just, economical, informal and quick. These objectives are implicit in the Dispute
Resolution Outcome.
As parties to a dispute must agree for a dispute to be resolved at conciliation, conciliated resolutions
are the most equitable outcome to a dispute. Also, disputes resolved in a timely manner contain costs
and promote an early return to work for injured workers.
Effectiveness indicators 3.1 and 3.2 directly measure these aspects of the dispute resolution process
and are therefore directly relevant to the Outcome 3 – Dispute Resolution.

Efficiency Indicators
The efficiency indicators are based on the cost and quantity measures for each Output and as such
gauge the overall efficiency in achieving desired Outcomes.

Why are they key indicators of performance
The indicators reported directly measure WorkCover’s effectiveness and efficiency in producing Outputs
and achieving Outcomes.

How can the indicators assist the reader to assess performance
The effectiveness indicators inform the reader of the extent to which:
•

Targeted workers’ compensation scheme participants perceived the information and education
provided by WorkCover increased their knowledge of the workers’ compensation scheme;

•

Key workers’ compensation scheme participants complied with legislative and other standards and

•

Disputes between parties in the workers’ compensation scheme were resolved in an equitable and
timely manner.

Efficiency indicators show the cost of each output based on a measurable unit of quantity.
Performance indicator results are presented as simple percentages, ratios or plain English statements.
In most cases results can be compared with previous years’ performance.
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Certification of Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission have been prepared in
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and records to present
fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2003 and the financial position as at 30 June 2003.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial
statements misleading or inaccurate.

____________________________________________________

B T BRADLEY
Chairman
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003

____________________________________________________

H T NEESHAM
Member
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003

____________________________________________________

M D’OVIDIO
Principal Accounting Officer
Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission
25 August 2003
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Audited Financial Statements
WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2003
Note
2003
$
REVENUE
Revenues from ordinary activities
Revenue from operating activities
Insurer contributions
12,845,923
Goods and services
2
472,043
Commonwealth grants and contributions
3
Fines and penalties
25,793
4
Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets
114,982
5
Other revenues from ordinary activities
18,412,622

12,347,470
407,921
25,546
21,571
171,955
26,986,099

Revenue from non-operating activities
Interest revenue
Reduction in the charge to provision
Total revenues from ordinary activities

2002
$

6
12, 25

687,324
8,606,899
41,165,586

288,053
50,800,954
91,049,569

7
8
9

7,582,215
1,486,276
719,537
769
1,072,416
714,129
1,003,824
782,214
583,275
13,944,655

7,109,485
1,265,705
762,720
7,993
1,193,474
720,588
1,165,324
463,094
826,228
13,514,611

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before
grants and subsidies from State Government
Resources received free of charge
NET PROFIT/(LOSS)

27,220,931
89,390
27,310,321

77,534,958
116,676
77,651,634

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN
THOSE RESULTING FROM TRANSACTIONS
WITH OWNERS AS OWNERS

27,310,321

77,651,634

EXPENSES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Doubtful debts expense
Administration expenses
Accommodation expenses
Charge to provisions
Uninsured claims
Other expenses from ordinary activities
Total expenses from ordinary activities

10
11
12
13

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2003
Note

2003
$

2002
$

Current Assets
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets
Receivables
Investments
Other assets
Total Current Assets

14
15
16
17
18

222,114
13,443,333
366,475
5,734,696
997,976
20,764,594

116,962
3,895,483
402,383
5,031,242
1,668,736
11,114,806

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant, equipment & vehicles
Relocation capitalisation
Total Non-Current Assets

19
20

7,684,408
7,684,408

8,159,775
8,159,775

28,449,002

19,274,581

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

21
22

1,528,421
8,826,998
10,355,419

1,460,812
18,493,545
19,954,357

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

22

29,070,913
29,070,913

37,607,875
37,607,875

39,426,332

57,562,232

(10,977,330)

(38,287,651)

522,368
(11,499,698)
(10,977,330)

336,858
(38,624,509)
(38,287,651)

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Equity
Reserves
Retained profits/(accumulated losses)
TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT)

23

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WORKERS ' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2003
Note

2003
$

2002
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Supplementation Fund levy collected
Insurer contributions
Goods and services
Interest Received
GST Receipts on sale
GST Receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts

19,025,715
12,845,923
472,043
687,324
57,082
281,413
212,745

24,811,935
12,347,470
384,822
312,653
60,874
362,170
391,203

Payments
Supplementation Fund claim payments
Employee entitlements
Supplies and services
GST Payments on purchases
Other payments

(9,599,101)
(8,629,386)
(3,024,717)
(396,083)
(1,343,896)

(23,415,784)
(7,864,873)
(3,373,353)
(434,737)
(702,081)

10,589,062

2,880,299

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

24

4

Net increase (decrease) in cash held
Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Cash at the end of the financial year

24

114,982
(347,588)
(232,606)

171,955
(527,196)
(355,241)

10,356,456

2,525,058

9,043,687
19,400,143

6,518,629
9,043,687

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
1

Significant Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the
financial statements. Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with
those adopted in the preceding year.
General Statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has
been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards, Statement of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Consensus Views
as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. The
Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take
precedence over Accounting Standards, Statement of Accounting Concepts and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board, and UIG Consensus Views. The modifications are intended to fulfil the
requirements of general application to the public sector, together with the need
for greater disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements.
If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the
reported results, details of that modification and where practicable, the resulting
financial effect, are disclosed in individual notes to these financial statements.
Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting
using the historical cost convention. Additions to non-current physical assets are
stated at cost.
(a)

Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation General Fund and the
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund

The financial statements represents transactions of the General Fund
established under section 106 of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation
Act 1981, and the Supplementation Fund established under section 5 of the
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
(b)

Grants and Other Contributions Revenue

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as
revenue when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions. Control is normally obtained upon their receipt.
Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are
only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.
(c)

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of
services, is recognised when the Authority has passed control of the goods or
other assets or delivery of the service to the customer.
(d)

Acquisitions of assets

The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is
measured as the fair value of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the
date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
(e)

Depreciation of non-current assets

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated
over their estimated useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of
their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis, using rates which are
reviewed annually. Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings
Office furniture & equipment
Information technology
Motor vehicles
(f)

20 to 25 years
10 to 15 years
5 years
2 years

Workers’ Compensation Board-relocation costs/Conciliation and Review
Directorate-office re fit

Costs for 15 Rheola Street West Perth are being amortised over 10 years using
the straight-line method.
(g)

Cash

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and
restricted cash assets net of outstanding bank overdrafts. These include shortterm deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
(h)

Receivables

Receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for
settlement no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, which are
known to be uncollectible, are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is raised
where some doubts as to collection exists.
(i)

Investments

Investments are brought to account at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.
Interest revenues are recognised as they are accrued.
(j)

Web site costs

Costs in relation to web sites controlled by the Authority are charged as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.
(k)

Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Authority
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or
services. Payables are generally settled within 30 days.
(l)

Employee benefits

Annual leave
This benefit is recognised at the reporting date in respect of employees' services
up to that date and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the
reporting date is recognised in the provisions for employee benefits, and is
measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled. The liability for long service leave expected to be settled more than 12
months from the reporting date is recognised in the provisions for employee
benefits and is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Consideration is given, when assessing expected future payments, to expected
future wage and salary levels including relevant on costs, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.
Superannuation
Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme
now closed to new members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a
defined benefit lump sum scheme now also closed to new members. All staff who
do not contribute to either of these schemes become non-contributory members of
the West State Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with
the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration)
Act 1992. All of these schemes are administered by the Government Employees
Superannuation Board (GESB).
The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred
to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme are partially unfunded and the
liability for future payments are provided for at reporting date.
The liabilities for superannuation charges under the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme and West State Superannuation Scheme are extinguished by regular
payment of employer contributions to the Government Employees
Superannuation Board.
The note disclosure required by paragraph 6.10 of AASB 1028 (being the
employer's share of the difference between employees' accrued superannuation
benefits and the attributable net market value of plan assets) has not been
provided. State scheme deficiencies are recognised by the State in its whole of
government reporting. The GESB's records are not structured to provide the
information for the Authority. Accordingly, deriving the information for the
Authority is impractical under current arrangements, and thus any benefits
thereof would be exceeded by the cost of obtaining the information.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including payroll tax, are recognised and included in
employee benefit liabilities and costs when the employee benefits to which they
relate are recognised as liabilities and expenses. See notes 7 and 22.
(m)

Accrued Salaries

Accrued salaries (refer note 21) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at
the end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial
year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. The Authority considers
the carrying amount approximates net fair value.
(n)

Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Value

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value which can be reliably
measured are recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate at
fair value.
(o)

Segment Information

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the
entity as disclosed in note 1 and the segment reporting Accounting Standard
AASB 1005 “Segment Reporting”.
Segment revenues and expenses are allocated on the basis of direct attribution
and reasonable estimates of usage.
Segment information has been disclosed by output (see note 32).
(p)

Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable
with the figures presented in the current financial year.
(q)

Rounding of Amounts

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
(r)

Provision for Uninsured Claims Pursuant to Section 174

Provision is made to meet payments required under section 174 of the Workers’
Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981 where the Conciliation and Review
Directorate have made an order and the worker has not received the
compensation due from the General Fund by 30 June 2003.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
(s)

Asset Replacement Reserve

The Commission set up the reserve to address the specific area associated with
computing technology because of the cost and high rate of change in technology
applications. Funds are set aside in the reserve for the following assets:
•
•
•
•

PC’s
IT hardware and software
PABX
Printers

The parameters for inclusion in the reserve is if the asset costs more than $5,000
and there is an ongoing need for it.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
2003
$
2

Goods and Services

Revenue from tenant
Sale of software
Seminars
Transcripts
Other

3

2002
$

334,538
62,983
24,789
8,694
41,039
472,043

321,539
23,099
19,830
43,453
407,921

48,615
48,615

29,947
25,546
55,493

5,105
111
245
96
8,422
2,822
16,801
31,814

2,677
122
24
26
705
3,324
6,878
48,615

114,982

171,955

Commonwealth grants and contributions

The Commonwealth Government has a Service Delivery Arrangement with the
Commission for the provision of services to Christmas Island and Cocos-Keeling Island.
Opening balance
Funding received from the Commonwealth
Payments by Program
Statistical Database
Policy & Legislation
Noise Induced Hearing loss
Dispute Resolution
Community Awareness
Compliance
Support
Total Payments
Balance carried forward
4

Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets

-

Net profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Motor Vehicles
Information Technology
Furniture & Equipment
Net profit/(loss)
5

15,575
(2,269)
(1,742)
11,564

24,213
670
(1,194)
23,689

Other revenues from ordinary activities

General Fund
Recoveries from uninsured employers
Correction of premium rating data

24,907
29,960

132,487
-

Other

24,713

3,349

18,331,414
1,628
18,412,622

26,644,569
205,694
26,986,099

Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Surcharge
Recovery
Other
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
2003
$
6

2002
$

Interest revenue

General Fund

226,854

164,533

Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)

460,470
687,324

123,520
288,053

6,486,626
611,822
483,767
7,582,215
(I) These employee expenses include superannuation, payroll tax, workers' compensation premiums
and other employment on-costs associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability.
The related on-costs liability is included in employee benefit liabilities at Note 22.

6,076,718
575,707
457,060
7,109,485

7

Employee expenses

Wages and salaries
Superannuation
Other related expenses(I)

8

Supplies and services

Actuarial Fees
Advertising
Audit - External
Audit - Internal
Court Recording
Legal
Library
Medical Panels
Motor Vehicle
Office Furniture and Equipment
Printing
Professional Fees
Other expenses
9

156,287
34,159
25,000
61,614
103,332
160,994
42,186
498,232
61,396
93,902
65,343
127,047
56,784
1,486,276

162,370
35,677
22,500
31,860
134,129
143,945
38,424
465,398
54,312
41,463
44,608
57,561
33,458
1,265,705

456,183
184,410
31,585
47,359
719,537

455,608
199,669
30,036
45,835
731,148

719,537

31,572
31,572
762,720

616,386
116,042
43,238
81,776
42,056
28,311
130,705

732,418
134,532
49,159
86,195
24,122
25,850
132,269

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings
Information Technology
Furniture & Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Total depreciation
Amortisation
Relocation costs
Total amortisation

10 Administration expenses
Information Technology
Insurance
Photocopy & Fax Running Costs
Postage
Staff Training
Stationery
Telephone

Other expenses

13,902
1,072,416

8,929
1,193,474

This page was amended November 2003.
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WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
2003
$

2002
$

11 Accommodation expenses
Accommodation expenses - West Perth
Accommodation expenses - Shenton Park

310,049
404,080
714,129

332,918
387,670
720,588

433,002
316,723
254,099
1,003,824

455,555
204,085
505,684
1,165,324

(8,606,899)
(8,606,899)

(50,800,952)
(50,800,952)

12 Charge to provisions
General Fund
Annual Leave
Long Service leave
Superannuation

Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Reduction in the charge to provision

13 Other expenses from ordinary activities
General Fund
Joint Initiative with WorkSafe
Carrying amount of non-current asset disposed of
IT Software Written Down
Research Grants
Seminars
Other expenses
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Claim Payments
Insurance Commission of WA expenses in recovery
Other

250,000
103,418
10,317
34,937
45,496

262,993
148,266
65,999
41,281
29,629
27,845

104,305
10,944
23,858
583,275

165,838
16,825
67,552
826,228

220,114
2,000
222,114

115,462
1,500
116,962

13,411,519

3,846,868

31,814
13,443,333

48,615
3,895,483

14 Cash assets
Bank account
Cash on hand

15 Restricted Cash Assets
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Supplementation Fund cash balance at Treasury
Commonwealth Funding - Christmas & Cocos Keeling Island
The Commonwealth Government provides funding in accordance with the
Service Level Agreement. Under the agreement the Commission provides
a range of workers' compensation related services.
Unspent funds for Christmas & Cocos-Keeling Island
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For the year ended 30 June 2003
2003
$

2002
$

16 Receivables
Current
General Fund
Trade debtors
Provision for doubtful debts
Fines and penalties
GST receivable
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Trade debtors
GST receivable

591,008
(439,856)
65,889
145,632

495,396
(444,444)
72,335
81,073

2,749
1,053
366,475

197,659
364
402,383

1,769,250
3,965,446
5,734,696

2,580,985
2,450,257
5,031,242

1,237
26,664
23,541

1,239
17,751
-

54,502
892,032
997,976

14,771
1,634,975
1,668,736

1,588,828

1,588,828

11,442,757
(6,184,827)
5,257,930

11,438,517
(5,728,644)
5,709,873

1,721,814
(1,089,150)
632,664

1,659,545
(949,132)
710,413

441,605
(236,619)
204,986
7,684,408

390,437
(239,776)
150,661
8,159,775

17 Investments
Current
At cost:
-Short Term Money Market
-Funds held at Treasury

18 Other assets
General Fund
Administration fee - Trust Fund
Interest
Prepayment - Injury management week
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Interest
Surcharge

19 Property, plant, equipment & vehicles
Freehold land
At cost(I)
Buildings
At cost(I)
Accumulated depreciation

Plant, equipment & vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Office furniture & equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
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2003
(I) A valuation performed by the Valuer General's Office dated 16 July 2003 shows the market value of
land and buildings at $10.44 million. The difference is due to the Commission valuing assets on the
historical cost convention.

2002

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and
end of the current financial year are set out below.
Plant,
Office
equipment
furniture
& vehicles & equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

710,413
255,697
(101,677)
(231,769)
632,664

150,661
87,651
(1,741)
(31,585)
204,986

Freehold
land
1,588,828
1,588,828

20 Relocation Capitalisation
Relocation Capitalisation
At cost
Accumulated amortisation

21 Payables
Current
General fund
Trade payables
Salaries
Superannuation
GST payable
Other creditors
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund
Claim payments

Buildings
5,709,873
4,240
(456,183)
5,257,930

Total
8,159,775
347,588
(103,418)
(719,537)
7,684,408

533,941
(533,941)
-

533,941
(533,941)
-

829,492
180,239
8,502
13,819
25,197

375,287
180,943
18,597
6,158
20,568

471,172
1,528,421

859,259
1,460,812

506,748
544,045
422,721
60,484

485,085
490,166
416,944
15,350

7,293,000
8,826,998

17,086,000
18,493,545

842,416
3,804,497

704,550
4,066,325

22 Provisions
Current
General Fund
Annual leave
Long service leave
Superannuation(I)
Uninsured Claims
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (See note 25)
Liability for estimated future claim payments

Non-current
General Fund
Long service leave
Superannuation(I)
Employers' Indemnity Supplem entation Fund (See note 25)
Liability for estimated future claim payments
This page was amended November 2003.
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2003
$

2002
$

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment
on-costs including superannuation, payroll tax and workers' compensation premiums. The liability for such
on-costs is included here. The associated expense is included under Other related expenses (under
Employee expenses) at Note 7.

(I)

The superannuation liability has been established from data supplied by the Government Employees
Superannuation Board.
The Authority considers the carrying amount of employee benefits approximates the net fair value.

(II)

Employee Benefit Liabilities
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:
Provision for employee benefits:
Current
Non-current

1,473,514
4,646,913
6,120,427

1,392,195
4,770,875
6,163,070

Movements in Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are
set out below.
2003
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund
Carrying amount at the start of year
Reduction in provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits
Carrying amount at the end of year

49,923,000
8,606,899
9,599,101
31,717,000

Uninsured Claims
Carrying amount at the start of year
Additional provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits
Carrying amount at the end of year

15,350
45,134
-

60,484

23 Equity
Reserves
Asset Replacement Reserve(I):
Opening balance
Transfer to reserve
Transfer from reserve
Closing balance
Retained profits/(accumulated losses)
Opening balance
Net profit/(loss)
Transfer (to reserve)/from reserve
Closing balance

336,858
200,000
(14,490)
522,368

229,361
200,000
(92,503)
336,858

(38,624,509)
27,310,321
(185,510)
(11,499,698)

(116,168,646)
77,651,634
(107,497)
(38,624,509)

(I) The Asset Replacement Reserve is used to replace/purchase non-current assets, as
described in accounting policy note 1(s).

86

WorkCover Western Australia

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL REPORTING
WORKERS' COMPENSATION & REHABILITATION COMMISSION
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003
2003
$

2002
$

24 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flow is reconciled to the related
items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets
Investments
Total Cash Assets (per Statement of Cashflows)

222,114
13,443,333
5,734,696
19,400,143

116,962
3,895,483
5,031,242
9,043,687

(b) Reconciliation of profit/loss from ordinary activities to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating
activities
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities

27,310,321

Non-cash items:
Depreciation & Amortisation expense
Net profit/(loss) on sale of non-current assets
Asset write off & recoup asset cost from insurer

719,537
(11,564)
-

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables(III)
Other assets

101,156
670,760

77,651,634

762,720
(23,689)
65,999

(211,578)
(1,610,097)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables
Current provisions
Non-current provisions

59,948
(9,666,547)
(8,536,962)

(1,747,283)
(22,214,178)
(49,781,536)

Net GST receipts/(payments)(I)
Change in GST receivables/(payables)(II)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

(339,000)
281,413
10,589,062

(373,863)
362,170
2,880,299

(I) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(II) This reverses out the GST in accounts receivable and payable.
(III) Note that ATO receivable/payable in respect of GST and receivable/payable in respect of the
sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they are not reconciling items.
(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities
During the financial year, there were no assets/liabilities transferred/assumed from other
government agencies not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.
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25 Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund (EISF)
The EISF was established by the Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act (the Act) to
provide for payment of workers' compensation claims in Western Australia:
-in the event an approved insurer collapses.
-to waterfront workers suffering from asbestos related diseases under the
Waterfront Workers' (Compensation for Asbestos Related Diseases) Act.
HIH Insurance was officially placed into liquidation on 27 August 2001. All claims up to and including
15 March 2001, the date HIH was placed into provisional liquidation, are required to be paid from
the EISF.
In accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1023 "Financial Reporting of General Insurance
Activities" the outstanding claims liability at 30 June 2002 was assessed at $49.923 million.
The actuarial assessment at 30 June 2003 has estimated the liability to be $31.717 million at inflated
and discounted values including a 75% prudential margin. A provision of $31.717 million has
been included in the financial statements as at 30 June 2003 as a liability (See note 22).
Consequently, the provision has been reduced (See note 12).
The actuary's assessment of outstanding claims liability does not recognise that some money may be
recovered from HIH's liquidator.
For the purpose of addressing the outstanding claims liability, a 3% surcharge is imposed on
employers' insurance policies for the 2002/03 year. For the 2003/2004 financial year the surcharge
was reduced to 1%. Revenue collected from the surcharge will be used to pay this liability.
26 Explanatory Statement
(i) Significant variations between estimates and actual results for the financial year for
the General Fund.
Details and reasons for significant variations between estimates and actual results are detailed below.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% and $50,000.

Goods and services
Interest revenue
Supplies and services
Administration expenses
Accommodation expenses
Uninsured claims

Actual
472,043
226,854
1,486,276
1,072,416
714,129
782,214

Estimate
411,790
162,000
1,671,953
1,233,313
812,071
410,000

Variance
(60,253)
(64,854)
185,677
160,897
97,942
(372,214)

Goods and services
Additional revenue is due to the sale of software and this was not budgeted for.
Interest revenue
When the budget was prepared it was expected that interest rates would drop however, this did not happen.
Supplies and services
The underspending is due to the following:
- Funds allocated to strategic projects remained unspent by the Commission.
- Printing of pamphlets was dependent on legislation passing through Parliament in the financial year
and this did not happen.
- A reduction in the number of matters referred to Medical Assessment Panels.
This page was amended November 2003.
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26 Explanatory Statement (continued)
Administration expenses
The underspending is due to the following:
- During the financial year there was a move to have the IT application development work performed by
WorkCover staff. This work was previously done by external consultants.
- The upgrade of the financial management information system was delayed in 2002/03.
- A reduction in the cost of telephone calls and line rental.
- A review of IT maintenance agreements revealed that there was no longer a need for some agreements
and they were accordingly discontinued.
Accommodation expenses
A majority of the variance relates to the upgrading of the air conditioning system in West Perth that was
not performed during the financial year.
Uninsured claims
The variance is due to an increase in the number and size of payments to workers of employers that were
uninsured for workers' compensation purposes.
(ii) Significant variations between actual revenues and expenditures for the financial
year and revenues and expenditures for the immediately preceding financial year
for the General and Supplementation Fund.
Details and reasons for significant variations between actual results with the corresponding items of
the preceding year are detailed below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than
10% and $50,000.

Goods and services
Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets
Other revenues from ordinary activities
Interest revenue
Reduction in the charge to provision
Supplies and services
Charge to provisions
Uninsured claims
Other expenses from ordinary activities

2003
$
472,043
114,982
18,412,622
687,324
8,606,899
1,486,276
1,003,824
782,214
583,275

2002
$
407,921
171,955
26,986,099
288,053
50,800,954
1,265,705
1,165,324
463,094
826,228

Variance
$
64,122
(56,973)
(8,573,477)
399,271
(42,194,055)
220,571
(161,500)
319,120
(242,953)

Goods and services
The additional revenue is due to the sale of software that occurred during the 2002/03 year.
Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets
The variance is due to a reduction in the number of non-current assets disposed of in the 2002/03 year
compared to the previous year.
Other revenues from ordinary activities
A majority of the variance is due to a reduction in the surcharge on employers workers' compensation
insurance policies. For the 2002/03 year the surcharge rate was 3% compared to 5% for the previous
financial year. Refer to note 5 and 25.
Interest revenue
Due to an increase in the level of funds in the EISF, additional interest was earned. Refer to note 6.
Reduction in the charge to provision
This variance relates to the collapse of HIH Insurance and reflects a reduction in the outstanding provision
for workers' compensation claim payments in this State. Refer to note 12 and 25.
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26 Explanatory Statement (continued)
Supplies and services
The variance is due to the following:
- Increase in the number of projects co-ordinated that required the use of technical experts.
- Interpreter services and cancellation costs have increased this year.
- The agency purchased new office furniture for staff members. In some instances the old furniture was
more than ten years old.
- Based on Full Court precedence, payments to doctors attending the Medical Assessment Panels have
increased as they are now required to provide detailed reasons for decisions.
- The auditor's scope of work was extended to focus on insurer claim data in the 2002/03 year.
Charge to provisions
Based on information supplied by the Government Employees Superannuation Board for the 2002/03 year,
the agency reduced the charge to provision for superannuation. The amount charged to the provision
account has been greater in previous years.
Uninsured claims
In this financial year there was an increase in the number and size of payments to workers of uninsured
employers.
Other expenses from ordinary activities
The decrease is mainly due to the following:
- Last financial year IT software was written down, this did not apply in the current financial year.
- There was a reduction in workers' compensation claims payments from the EISF in the year. These
claim payments relate to National Employers' Mutual General Insurance Company, Palmdale/AGI
Insurance Company and Standard Insurance Company.
- In this financial year the carrying amount of non current assets disposed of were less than the amount
in the previous year.
27 Financial Instruments
(a) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The following table details the Commission's exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date:

2003
Financial Assets
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets
Receivables
Investments
Other assets

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest Rate
%

4.85
4.85

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Provisions

2002
Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities

90

Variable
Interest
Rate

Non
Interest
Bearing

13,443,333
5,734,696
19,178,029

222,114
366,475
997,976
1,586,565

222,114
13,443,333
366,475
5,734,696
997,976
20,764,594

1,528,421
37,897,911
39,426,332

1,528,421
37,897,911
39,426,332

2,188,081
57,562,232

11,114,806
57,562,232

-

4.45

8,926,725
-

Total
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(b) Credit Risk Exposure
Except as detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any provisions for losses, represents the Commission's maximum exposure to credit risk.
Financial Assets

Maximum Credit Risk
2003
2002

Recognised Financial Assets
Cash assets
Restricted cash assets
Receivables
Investments
Other assets

222,114
13,443,333
366,475
5,734,696
997,976
20,764,594

116,962
3,895,483
402,383
5,031,242
1,668,736
11,114,806

(c) Net Fair Values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements are not
materially different from their net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies
disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

28 Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority and Senior Officers
Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$0 - $10,000
$170,001 - $180,000
The total remuneration of the members of the Accountable Authority is:

6
1

6
1

179,892

184,127

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission
in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.
No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable
Authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year,
fall within the following bands are:
$90,001 - $100,000
$100,001 - $110,000
$110,001 - $120,000
$120,001 - $130,000
The total remuneration of senior officers is:

1
1
1

1
2
-

336,299

323,925

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission
in respect of Senior Officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.
No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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29 Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

25,000

22,500

30 Workers' Compensation & Rehabilitation Trust Fund
The purpose of the Trust Fund is to hold funds paid into the custody of the Commission pursuant to section
110 of the Workers' Compensation and Rehabilitation Act 1981.
Income and Expenditure Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2003
Income
Amounts paid to the custody of the Commission
Interest on Investments
Expenditure
Payments by the Commission
Administration Fee

Surplus/(Deficit)
Balance July 1
Balance June 30
Balance of funds held represents:
Bank
Investments
Add Accrued Interest
Less Accrued Expenses

372,710
71,323
444,033

363,600
69,000
432,600

538,793
16,283
555,076

825,327
14,922
840,249

(111,043)
1,477,351
1,366,308

(407,649)
1,885,000
1,477,351

7,723
1,354,796
1,362,519
5,026
(1,237)
1,366,308

21,834
1,451,589
1,473,423
5,162
(1,234)
1,477,351

31 Supplementary Information
Write-Offs
Debts written off by the agency during the financial year
Uninsured Claims
Fines and penalties

Losses Through Theft, Defaults And Other Causes
Losses of public moneys and public and other
property through theft
Amount recovered through insurance

92

45,559
5,358
50,917

141,372
1,091
142,463

-

14,901
13,546
1,355
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32 Output Information
The Commission operates within one industry segment as per AASB 1005 however, for information purposes
the following summary information is provided for each of the Commission's outcomes.
Information Education
and Advice
2003
2002
$
$
Revenues from ordinary activities
Expenses from ordinary activities

1,701,692
1,824,288

Grants and subsidies from Government
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities

1,638,468
1,673,253

Scheme
Regulation
2003
2002
$
$
2,090,878
2,276,166

(122,596)

(34,785)

Dispute
Resolution
2003
2002
$
$

1,757,059
1,880,498

7,845,801
8,380,159

(185,288)

(123,439)

Not
Attributed
2003
2002
$
$

8,046,954
8,702,060
-

(534,358)

(655,106)

Total
2003
$

2002
$

79,607,088

41,165,586

91,049,569

1,464,042

1,258,800

13,944,655

13,514,611

89,390

116,676

89,390

116,676

28,152,563

78,464,964

27,310,321

77,651,634

29,527,215

This page was amended November 2003.
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